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In the financial world, the phrase ‘appropriate service delivery channels’ has
been touted by many internationals as a justification for a steady reduction in
branch outlets, face to face interaction and a virtually complete ‘virtual service’
via technology. We believe that while innovative and enabling technology will
always signal our drive to continue to lead the local market, it is precisely that
local interest and knowledge that will differentiate 1st National Bank from others.
As we celebrate yet another year of profitability, we celebrate our steadfast
commitment to expanding our network of service to ensure that wherever you
are... we are here for you.
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Marketing

Marketing - because you need to know what makes us better
every day. Our marketing is as innovative and valuable as all our
investments in service, technology and training. We make use of
the newest technologies to ensure that our message is received
and understood by all. We share our achievements with pride,
knowing they come from our customers as much as from ourselves
and we understand that every day brings new challenges so our
customers need to know every day how we can
better serve them.
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notice of the Annual
meeting of shareholders
Notice is hereby given that the 74th Annual Meeting of Shareholders of 1st National Bank St.
Lucia Limited will be held at the Civil Service Association (CSA) Centre, Sans Souci, Castries, on
Thursday, 24th May, 2012 at 5:00 p.m.
AGENDA
1.	Tabling of Proxies
2.	To confirm the Minutes of the 73rd Annual Meeting of Shareholders of 24th May, 2011
3.
Matters arising out of the Minutes
4.	To consider and adopt the 2011 Report of the Board of Directors
5.	To consider and adopt the Auditor's Report to the Shareholders
6.	To consider and adopt the Audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31st December, 2011
7.	To sanction a dividend of 40 cents per share as recommended by the Board of Directors
8.	To elect four Directors.
(i)	The Directors retiring by rotation and who are eligible for re-election are:		
		
		

-

Mr. Joseph Maxwell
Mr. Nigel Fulgence
Mr. Christian Husbands

(ii)	To fill the vacancy occasioned by the retirement of Mr. Ferrel Charles
Note: Nominations may be made either in writing or on the prescribed forms and must reach the Bank's registered
office at least five (5) days before the day of holding the meeting.(Viz Friday 18th May, 2021)
NOTE:
A Shareholder entitled to attend the meeting and vote may appoint a proxy to vote in his/her place. A person
appointed by proxy need not be a shareholder. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the
hand of the appointer or of his/her attorney duly authorized in writing, or if such appointer is a corporation, either
under its common seal or under the hand of an officer or authority so authorized. The instrument appointing a
proxy and the power of attorney or other authority if any under which it is signed or a notarially certified copy
of that power of authority shall be deposited at the registered office of THE COMPANY not less than forty eight
hours before the time for holding the meeting at which the person named in the instrument proposes to vote
and in default the instrument of proxy shall not be treated as valid.
NOTICE is also hereby given that the Share Transfer Book of the Bank will be closed from 14th May, 2012 to 24th May, 2012
both dates inclusive.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD
Beryl Carasco-Alleyne
Corporate Secretary
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NOMINATION OF CANDIDATE FOR ELECTION AS A DIRECTOR
OF 1ST NATIONAL BANK ST. LUCIA LIMITED

NOTE
Every director shall be the holder in his or her own right of at least one hundred unencumbered
shares in the capital of THE COMPANY.
No one (other than a retiring director) shall be eligible to be a director unless notice in writing
that he or she is a candidate for such office shall have been given to THE COMPANY by two
other shareholders of THE COMPANY at least five days before the day of holding the meeting
at which the election is to take place.

We, the undersigned Shareholders of the above Bank nominate ……………………...............
.………………………………of ………………..........………………………………… as a candidate
for election as a Director of the Bank at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders scheduled for
………………………………………………

Signed: …………………………….........……..	Signed: …………………….........……………..
Print Name: ..................................................

Print Name: ..................................................

Date: ………………………………….........…..	Date: …………….........………….…………….
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GUIDELINES ON MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS FOR DETERMINING
FITNESS FOR DIRECTORSHIP
(As stated in Section 26 of the Banking Act.)

Every person who is likely to be a director of the Bank (the person) must be a fit and proper person. In general
determination of this status, regard shall be had to the following:(a)

the person’s probity, competence and soundness of judgement for fulfilling the responsibility of
a Director;

(b)

the diligence with which that person is likely to fulfill the responsibilities of the position; and

(c)

whether the interests of depositors or potential depositors of the Bank are likely to be, in any way, 		
threatened by the person.

In addition to the general provisions above, regard must be had to the previous conduct and activities in
business or financial matters of the person, and in particular, to any evidence that the person nominated as a
candidate:(a)

has committed an offence involving fraud and other dishonesty or violence;

(b)

has contravened any provision made by or under an enactment designed for protecting members of
the public against financial loss due to dishonesty, incompetence or malpractice by persons concerned
in the provision of banking, insurance, investment or other financial services or the management of
companies or against financial loss due to the conduct of a discharged or un-discharged bankrupt;

(c)

is not current in his/her financial commitments and other obligations to the Bank and other financial
institutions;

(d)

is not a member of either the Board, Management or Staff of institutions involved in business of a 		
financial nature including banking business;
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Appointment
OF PROXY
NOTE
The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointer, or of his or her
attorney duly authorised in writing, or if such appointer be a corporation either under its common seal
or under the hand of an officer or attorney so authorised. A proxy shall have the same rights as the
shareholder appointing him or her as defined in Sections 138 and 145 of THE COMPANIES ACT 1996
(Rev. 2001). A proxy is valid only at the meeting in respect of which it is given or any adjournment
thereof.
The instrument appointing a proxy and the power of attorney or other authority if any under which it
is signed or a notarially certified copy of that power of authority shall be deposited at the registered
office of THE COMPANY not less than forty-eight hours before the time for holding the meeting at
which the person named in the instrument proposes to vote and in default the instrument of proxy
shall not be treated as valid.
A person appointed by proxy need not be a shareholder.

I............................................................................................. of ........................................................................................
being a shareholder of the above company, hereby appoint........................................................................................
of ......................................................................................... or failing him/her ..............................................................
of ........................................................................................ my proxy to vote for me and on my behalf at the meeting
of shareholders of the above company to be held on ................................ the .............. day of ....................... , 20......
and at any adjournment or adjournments thereof.
Signed this .............. day of ....................... , 20......

Signed: ............................................
										
Print Name: .....................................
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Corporate
Data
Head Office
Reduit, Gros Islet
P. O. Box 168
Castries
St. Lucia, West Indies
Tel :
(758) 455 7000
Fax:
(758) 453 1630
Castries Branch
21 Bridge Street
P. O. Box 168	
Castries, St. Lucia
West Indies
Tel :
(758) 455 7000
Fax:
(758) 453 1630
Rodney Bay Sub Branch
J.Q.'s Mall
Rodney Bay
Gros Islet
Tel :
(758) 452 8882/3
Fax:
(758) 452 8884
Vieux-Fort Sub Branch
P. O. Box 342
Commercial Street
Vieux Fort
Tel :
(758) 454 6213
Fax:
(758) 454 6137	

AFFILIATIONS

Bureau de Change	
SLASPA Ferry Terminal
Faux a Chaux , Castries
Tel :
(758) 453 0041
Fax:
(758) 459 0730

Caribbean Credit Card
Corporation (CCCC)

SWIFT: LUOBLCLC
Email: manager@1stnationalbankslu.com
Website : www.1stnationalbankonline.com

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Choc Bay Sub Branch
Mercury Court
Choc Bay, Castries
Tel:
(758) 455 7042
Fax:
(758) 453 0943

Eastern Caribbean Home
Mortgage Bank (ECHMB)
ECIC Holdings Ltd.

Charmaine Gardner
President

Caribbean Association of
Banks (CAB)

Cyril Matthew
1st Vice President

Eastern Caribbean Institute
of Banking (ECIB)

Ferrel Charles
2nd Vice President (up to September, 2011)
Nigel Fulgence
(2nd Vice President (as of October, 2011)

Caribbean Association of
Audit Committee Members
Inc. (CAACM)		
St. Lucia Chamber of
Commerce, Industry and
Agriculture

Brenda Floissac-Fleming
Joseph Maxwell
Christian Husbands

St. Lucia Employers
Federation

Johnson Cenac
Tedburt Theobalds

Saint Lucia Hotel and
Tourism Association (SLHTA)

Geraldine Lendor-Gabriel
Marigot Bay Sub Branch
Marina Village
Marigot Bay, Castries
Tel:
(758) 458 3744
Fax:
(758) 458 3638

Easter Caribbean Securities
Exchange (ECSE)

G. Carlton Glasgow
Managing Director
Beryl Carasco-Alleyne
Corporate Secretary

SOLICITORS
Floissac, Fleming & Associates

AUDITOR
PricewaterhouseCoopers

Bureau de Change	
George F.L. Charles Airport
Vigie, Castries
Tel :
(758) 453 1683
Fax:
(758) 451 8482

REGULATOR
Eastern Caribbean Central Bank
Financial Sector Supervision Unit
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Technology

Our investment in technology represents seed capital to grow our
product offering of a 24 hour, 365 day service to all. We were first to
market with the introduction of mobanking (banking on
your cellphone). Our website continues to see high levels of traffic driven
by increased usage of our online banking portal and general interest
created by our aggressive marketing strategy. The growth of our ATM
network across the country continues to meet our commitment to
customers of bringing our bank to them.

We innovate to ensure you benefit because you are
the real heart of our business.
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Community
Community Reinvestment is the soil in which truly bountiful crops
are sown. With our decades long history of community involvement
via sports, the arts, culture and personal development, 1st National
Bank continues to maintain deeply set roots in many communities.
We sustain our relationships
with significant and real reinvestment in the bettering of the
lives of our communities...what better way to show the
reality behind our decades old promise of national
development from the ground up.
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FINANCIAL
HIGHLIGHTS
2011

2010

2009

2008

2007

$ ' 000

$ ' 000

$ ' 000

$ ' 000

$ ' 000

Gross income

41,352

37,612

35,453

33,737

31,049

Interest income

35,080

32,993

30,587

29,681

25,403

Interest expense

13,954

12,995

11,883

10,763

9,046

Net interest income

21,126

19,998

18,704

18,918

16,357

6,272

4,619

4,866

4,056

5,646

14,848

13,774

11,622

10,515

9,028

6,911

6,552

9,114

9,096

10,539

404,093

388,402

365,377

329,405

297,510

7,971

7,971

7,971

7,971

7,971

75,583

70,722

66,204

56,239

49,339

485,939

466,470

436,072

390,152

351,468

Common shares issued & paid ('000)

5,000

5,000

5,000

5,000

5,000

Performance

2011

2010

2009

$

$

$

$

$

Dividends Declared

0.40

0.40

0.40

0.40

0.40

Earnings per share

1.38

1.31

1.82

1.82

2.17

15.12

14.14

13.24

11.25

9.87

Return on average assets

1.45%

1.45%

2.21%

2.45%

3.17%

Return on average equity

9.45%

9.57%

14.89%

17.23%

23.84%

Net Interest Margin

4.44%

4.43%

4.53%

5.10%

4.91%

Productivity

54.2%

56.0%

49.3%

45.8%

41.0%

107

101

95

94

90

Operating results

Other income
Other operating expenses
After tax income
Balance sheet data
Customer deposits
Common shareholder equity
Total shareholder equity
Total Assets

Book Value

Average Employees
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CHARMAINE GARDNER
PRESIDENT
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Board of Directors’ report
In the financial year under review, the effects of the global economic
crisis continued to constrain aspects of the operations of the 1st
National Bank Saint Lucia Ltd. This notwithstanding, sound management
has ensured balance sheet growth of 4%. Having regard to the
economic hardships in our region and internationally, the Board
believes that this performance is satisfactory.

I am able to report that earnings per share increased from

with the other shareholder member banks through the

$1.31 in 2010 to $1.38 this year. At year end, total equity

development of a platform that promotes the growth of

stood at $75 million, an increase of 7% over 2010. The

the shareholder indigenous banks.

book value of the Bank’s shares increased to $15.12 per
share, up from $14.14.

The Tier 1 capital adequacy ratio

remained strong at 22%.

Governance

The Bank’s strategy was in the main executed according to

Good governance remains a priority in the management

plan, resulting in increased earnings after tax of 5% for the

of the Bank to engender efficiency, transparency, equity

year. We have stayed true to the strategies and processes

and accountability. The Board is ultimately responsible for

that have served us well, all centred on the delivery of

oversight of the principal risks by ensuring that appropriate

excellent customer service. As testament to our strategy

supervision and compliance processes to manage those risks

to execute service excellence, the Bank won the Service

are implemented. Your Board takes this role seriously and

Excellence award at the Annual Saint Lucia Business Awards

we endeavour to protect the rights of all shareholders in an

Ceremony for the 2011 year under review; additionally, the

equitable manner. The Corporate Governance Committee

Bank’s human resource development program also won

reviews and recommends matters of a governance nature

the coveted Excellence in Human Resource Development

for approval by the Board.

Award. We continue to nurture and hone the skills of our
staff to redound to the benefit of our customers.

In the furtherance of its governance role, the Board is
expected to benefit directly from its membership of the

Our Bank is community oriented and we build on this

Caribbean Association of Audit Committee Members

philosophy by providing customers with easy access to their

(CAACM). This past year, two more directors completed the

funds thereby enhancing their experience. We reinvest in

Director Education and Accreditation Program (DEAP) of

these same communities and have established a strong

the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators

tradition of contributing directly to the development of

of Canada, resulting in an overwhelming majority of your

sports, arts and culture.

directors being accredited. The Board plans to continue
with its shareholder education forum annually and we ask

Our strategy, to serve our communities better, saw the

all shareholders to take every opportunity to enhance our

commissioning of the Choc Bay sub Branch in August 2011.

governance role in the interest of the institution.

Although a loss was reported for this operating unit at year
end as anticipated; we expect that the sub-branch will meet

We take this opportunity to inform you that the Caribbean

the bank wide targeted return in the medium term. The

Association of Indigenous Banks has undergone a name

strategic alliance formed through ECIC Holdings Ltd has not

change to Caribbean Association of Banks. 1st National

been successful in terms of dividend payments, however,

Bank has maintained its membership of the new institution

the Bank has benefited otherwise from its relationship

whose mandate is to advocate for all Banks in the region.
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The Board of Directors and its various Committees meet regularly to oversee the business of the Bank. The tables below
encapsulate the attendance of Directors and reflect how members have embraced their role on the Board.

BOARD MEETING ATTENDANCE 2011
BOARD
Names

# Held

Actual Attended

Charmaine Gardner

12

12

Cyril Matthew

12

12

*Ferrel Charles

12

9

Brenda Floissac-Fleming

12

10

Nigel Fulgence

12

11

Joseph Maxwell

12

12

Christian Husbands

12

11

Johnson Cenac

12

12

*Geraldine Lendor-Gabriel

12

5

Tedburt Theobalds

12

12

G. Carlton Glasgow

12

12

BOARD COMMITTEE MEETINGS FOR 2011
FINANCE

HUMAN RESOURCE

AUDIT

CREDIT RISK

Actual
Actual
Actual
Actual
# Held attendance # Held attendance # Held attendance # Held attendance

Names
Charmaine Gardner
Cyril Matthew
*Ferrel Charles

10
5

10

2

2

Nigel Fulgence

2

2

10

9

10

9

Joseph Maxwell

5

5

2

2

Christian Husbands

5

5

2

2

Johnson Cenac
5

5

3

3

3

3

3

2

1

0

3

3

1

1

1

1

10

9

10

9
1

1

3

3

3

3

1

Tedburt Theobalds
G. Carlton Glasgow

Actual
# Held attendance

4

Brenda Floissac-Fleming

*Geraldine Lendor-Gabriel

CORP. GOVERNANCE

5

2

* Mr. F. Charles retired September 30th, 2011
* Mrs. Geraldine Lendor-Gabriel was elected on May 24th, 2011
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2

BOARD CHANGES

all investment positions to ensure value at risk is minimized.
purposeful

The introduction of a Value Added Tax system (VAT) to be

contribution of retiring Director and Second Vice President,

implemented, probably in the latter part of 2012 is the

Ferrel Charles who served the Board with distinction. Director

subject of considerable debate and discussion. We continue

Charles served as the Chairperson of the Finance, Planning

to dialogue with the relevant Government departments for

and Investment Committee during his last term as a Board

its seamless and equitable implementation.

We

acknowledge

the

enlightened

and

member. Director Nigel Fulgence, who currently serves as
Chairperson of the Corporate Governance Committee was
elected from amongst his peers to the position of Second

CLOSING

Vice President of the Bank.
Once again fellow shareholders, the Board, Management
At the 2011 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, Mrs. Geraldine

and Staff continue to work assiduously in your interest as

Lendor-Gabriel was elected to serve a term of three years.

shareholders and also in the interest of our diverse and

Director Lendor-Gabriel is a professional accountant and

increasing client base.

enhances the skill set of the team.
I take this opportunity to thank the Bank’s loyal and
committed employees who have formed lasting business

DIVIDEND

relationships with our customers, making our task as
Directors easier.

It has been most gratifying working

We have taken the decision to recommend a dividend

alongside my fellow Directors, who have all put in exemplary

payment of $0.40 per share on the basis of improved profit

service in ensuring the safety and security of 1st National

performance after tax over last year ($6.9 million compared

Bank Saint Lucia Ltd.

to $6.6 million) as well as a strong Tier 1 capital adequacy
ratio. This total dividend payout will amount to 29% of

May God bless us all.

after tax profits and is within the limits prescribed in our
capital plan. The Bank has maintained a dividend payment
of $0.40 per share for the last four years.

LOOKING AHEAD
As we look to the year 2012 and beyond, we are cognizant
of the happenings in the banking and financial sector

Dr. Charmaine Gardner

globally. We recognize that we have to adapt our strategies

President, on behalf of the Board of Directors

and their implementation to ensure the continuing growth
and stability of the Bank.
Last year we indicated that increasing regulation
would impact upon our operations. This year,
we became aware of a new Foreign Account Tax
Compliance Act (FATCA), which has been signed into
law in the United States of America. It is expected to
become effective January 1st 2014. The implications
are far reaching and we continue to review the
requirements to enable our decision making process.
The reneging on debt obligations by some Governments,
once perceived to be risk free has negatively impacted
investments in general, disturbing the environment for
growth stimulation in our vulnerable economies. We will
enhance our monitoring processes and remain vigilant on
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01. CHARMAINE GARDNER, PRESIDENT 02. CYRIL MATTHEW, 1ST VICE PRESIDENT 03. FERREL
CHARLES, 2ND VICE PRESIDENT (JANUARY - SEPTEMBER 2011) 04. NIGEL FULGENCE, 2ND VICE
PRESIDENT (EFFECTIVE OCTOBER 2011) 05. BRENDA FLOISSAC-FLEMING, DIRECTOR

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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06. JOSEPH MAXWELL, DIRECTOR 07. CHRISTIAN HUSBANDS, DIRECTOR 08. JOHNSON CENAC,
DIRECTOR 09. TEDBURT THEOBALDS, DIRECTOR 10. GERALDINE LENDOR-GABRIEL, DIRECTOR
11. G. CARLTON GLASGOW, MANAGING DIRECTOR

Profitability rooted in service - service rooted in local knowledge
Growth
and
Profitability
[]
our board, examples
of the
local
financial
industry
The Fruit of Local Knowledge and Community Focus
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Training

TRAINING - the secret of growing local skills and knowledge into a
valuable resource for all. We hire the best people and give them the best
training so that the service we offer is, simply...the best. With greater
efficiencies and greater learning come more time for growing our clients’
portfolios and enriching their banking experience.
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G. CARLTON GLASGOW
MANAGING DIRECTOR
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Managing
director’s
REPORT
The effects of the global economic downturn
continued to be felt in 2011. Rising oil prices and
increases in the price of goods and services adversely
affected the propensity to save, evidenced in reduced
deposit growth. This reality was also reflected in our
balance sheet growth of only 4% compared with 2010.
However, the Bank's operating profit of $8.8million,
representing an increase of 7% on the result last year,
is considered reasonable in all the circumstances.
While there have been some signs of economic
recovery from the 2008 global financial crisis, there
continues to be uncertainty about the effects of
the Eurozone crisis. However, we remain optimistic
that global economies will continue to follow a path
of steady growth. This is important to us given the
significance of trade, tourism and remittances to our
role as a financial intermediary.
Our customers remain central to all our activities and
we place their needs first, with appropriate focus on
the needs of our staff and shareholders. This objective
required appropriate review and adjustment to
our operating strategy to deliver excellent service
while delivering stronger returns, amidst the extant
challenges.
Our strategy implementation saw the commissioning
of a new state-of-the-art full service sub Branch at
Choc Bay, Castries in August 2011. It boasts a drivethru ATM and night deposit facilities. Located near
the Choc Bay/Union roundabout, it is well situated
to cater to the banking needs of individuals and
businesses in the north of the island. This area is
gradually being developed to accommodate various
types of businesses and residences.

our space issues were not fully addressed to our
satisfaction for a number of reasons. Alternative
strategies are currently being reviewed for the
property on #18 Bridge Street. Plans to enhance the
customers' experience at the Rodney Bay sub Branch
will be realized by the fourth quarter of 2012.
The Bank's success is built on some core principles
which have not changed in the last ten years, these
being excellent service delivery, conservative and
prudent policies in the management of the Bank's
assets, strong capital and strict expense discipline.
We take pride in our great reputation and brand
awareness, great corporate citizenry, and our
talented and friendly staff.
We have developed a human resource strategy that
aligns the customer and financial strategies using
the Balanced Scorecard management approach.
Work on the implementation of a new performance
management system was progressed satisfactorily
during the year with full implementation expected
in 2012.
Without a doubt, the willingness of our customers to
continue to choose 1st National Bank is a key indicator
of our performance in the market. Additionally,
winning two awards (Service Excellence and
Excellence in Human Resource Development) at the
last Annual Business Awards Ceremony, confirmed
our strategy of directing our energies at people - our
staff and ultimately our customers, as effective.

Although the Bank's growth has been sustained,
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Financial review
Despite the continued impact of the global economic
downturn, we report stronger profit performance over
audited figures for 2010.

Net Interest Income

Balance sheet growth is not

as robust as the previous year, but we remain confident

20000

that we have the platform to achieve better results in the
15000

medium to long term and to deliver on our shareholders’
expectations while exceeding our customers’ needs.

10000

Net profit before tax grew by 7% over the prior year,
from $8.3 million in 2010 to $8.8 million in 2011.

5000

Profit

after tax though modest at $6.9 million, exceeded the

0
2006

previous year’s result by 5%.

2007

2008

2009

2010

Total revenue rose by 10% over 2010, propelled by foreign
exchange earnings, loan and overdraft interest and related

Non interest income was $6.3 million dollars and was

fees, and bad debts recovered.

greater than that for 2010 by 36%. A significant portion
of the increase is attributable to bad debts recovered and
foreign exchange earnings. Though bad debts recovered
fluctuate year to year, it increased substantially over that for
December 2010, reflecting positive results of our strategy to
augment the staff in Recoveries.
2010

2011

3,000,000

2,000,000

1,000,000

0

Card Services

Sundries and Other Fees

Bad Debts Recovered

Operating costs increased by 8% compared to last year as a
Interest income on loans and advances increased year on

result of our strategy to provide cutting edge technology to

year by 9%. However, investment income fell by 8% because

perfect service delivery and product offerings. Some of the

of slightly lower interest rates earned on investments and a

key increases are listed below:

reduction in the value of investments held during the year.
1.
Net interest income grew by 6%, increasing from $20

operating unit at Choc Bay, in line with our
strategy to provide easy access by our customers;

million in 2010 to $21 million in 2011. This caused the net
interest margin to increase slightly, from 4.43% to 4.44%.

expenses related to the opening of the new

2.

productivity improvements relevant to 		
the 4 sight and Synergy projects; the former scans
vouchers and cheques and allows customers to
view their activity online;

3.

increases in the cost of existing software contracts
and upgrades for those;

4.

increased cost of electricity due to higher fuel
surcharges;

5.

staff remuneration and benefits-the Bank 		
maintained the decision to pay an annual 		
increment of approximately 4% to eligible
employees;
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6.

staff training in the areas of credit risk, the

•

implementation of new software and upgrades

	Federation of St. Kitts and Nevis;

a decision to accept a 50% haircut on a bond of the

to existing software, to enhance the skill set and
customer service;
7.

REVIEW OF THE BALANCE SHEET

higher staff numbers to support our expanded
operations;

8.

higher stationery costs relevant to preparations

Notwithstanding the many challenges experienced during

to become compliant with automated clearing

the financial year, the Bank’s total assets grew by 4% over

house arrangements;

the audited position at December 31st 2010. Total assets
grew from $466 million to $486 million this year end.

The depreciation charge is higher than last year mainly
because of the increase in the number of IT Projects
undertaken,

plant

and

equipment

relevant

to

the
Asset growth

commissioning of the Choc Bay sub Branch and advanced
depreciation charged on property owned at #18 Bridge
Street.
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Cash
Cash on hand and balances with Central Bank increased by
31% over the same period last year. The total balances held
with correspondent banks also increased by 31%. Liquidity
was fairly high during last quarter of 2011 but excess funds
could not be invested as lucrative investment opportunities
were not readily available.
Productivity
Our operations were more efficient this year compared to

Total loans and advances to financial institutions fell by

the last as we managed controllable expenses in line with

43% to $32 million. This was due to the tight liquidity

revenue. The productivity ratio improved to 54.2% down

position which prevailed during the first half of the year,

from 56.0% in 2010. We aim to improve the productivity

lower interest rates on repurchase agreements, the need to

ratio by continuing to focus on customer service excellence

manage the liquidity position due to the withdrawal of a

while practising stringent cost control.

large deposit and efforts to diversify the portfolio to reduce
risk.

Provisions
A total provision for credit and investment losses of $3.7

Loans and advances

million was charged this year. The total provision for credit

Net loans and advances to customers increased by 8% over

losses was slightly less than that made for 2010 by 2% as

the same period last year, from $305 million to $330 million

we continued to manage our credit risk to more acceptable

in 2011. This is a significant achievement in the current

levels. Provisioning was made in accordance with IAS 39. The

economic climate as we helped our customers achieve their

total provision on investments was $1.3 million compared to

goals.

$0.14 million for 2010. The significant increase in provision
for investments was mainly attributable to the following:
•

a 50% provision was made for the shares
held in ECIC Holdings Ltd as its main subsidiary

	Caribbean Financial Services Corporation (CFSC) is
experiencing financial hardship;
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a $1.5 million investment due to an unsuccessful bid and
Loans and Advances

repayment of principal on investments as arranged. The
reduction in the carrying amount of investments held to

2007

maturity is the result of an unsuccessful bid to roll over an
investment for approximately $2 million.

2008

40% of investments are held in the Governments of

2009

the Eastern Caribbean Currency Union, 53% are held
2010

with Financial Institutions and 7% with listed or private
companies.

2011

Our strategy to diversify the portfolio to

manage risks is ongoing.
0

100000

200000

300000

400000

Demand loans recorded the largest increase (14%) over
last year, followed by overdrafts at 10%. The bulk of the
portfolio comprises demand loans and mortgage loans, at
47% and 45% respectively.

Property, plant and equipment
Capital expenditure relevant to property, plant and
equipment was higher by a net position of $1.4 million
over 2010. Additions of $3.3 million offset depreciation
of $1.9 million.

The main operating units benefiting

In terms of industry sectors, 56% of credit is made to the

from this expenditure are the Choc Bay Sub Branch ($1.5

personal sector, (2010 – 60%) with 11% to professional

million) and the Castries Branch ($1.6 million). Of the total

services (2010 – 9%). The maturity of the portfolio varies,

capital expenditure for 2011, 38% was spent on computer

with the majority of the portfolio (67%) being over 5 years

hardware and software, 31% on premises and 23% on

old.

equipment.

The impact of the global crisis was evident in the loan

Other assets

quality. 55% of the portfolio is considered neither past

These assets comprise mainly card receivables, prepayments

due nor impaired (2010 - 58%).

for insurance, software maintenance, rent and work in

It is interesting to note

that only demand loans recorded an increase in provision

progress on the Rodney Bay sub Branch.

for impairment of 9% over figures for 2010. On the basis
of our internal rating system, approximately 2% of the

The Bank has a tax recoverable of $1.6 million due to

portfolio is considered fully impaired, carrying 27% of the

payment of advanced corporation tax paid on higher profits

provision for loan loss. The ratio of non accrual loans to

for prior years. We expect the position to be regularized

total loans is 12.3%, growing by 10 basis points over that

in 2012.

for last year. The ratio of the loan loss provisioning to total
loans was 4%, decreasing from 5% last year.

Liabilities
Funding for the Bank’s activities derived strictly from

Investment securities

deposits of personal and institutional depositors. The safety

The carrying amount of investments held in the available

of their deposits is critical to the Bank’s success. The Bank

for sale category fell by $3 million or 25%, largely due

did not issue debt securities for the year.

to provisions on investments of $1.3 million, disposal of
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At December 31st 2011, total deposits grew by 4% or $16

month comprise 22% of the investment portfolio and at

million. Savings deposits and time deposits increased by

least 80% of investments mature within one year.

7% and 2% respectively while demand deposits fell by
5%. The weighted average cost of deposits fell by six basis

We welcomed the establishment of the ECCB Repo market

points, from 3.64% in 2010 to 3.58% in 2011. This was due

in November 2011. The market was not actively trading

to increased liquidity and declining interest rates on other

at year end, thus little progress was made to address our

instruments in the market.

liquidity imbalances in the market.
Risk Management
Risk is inherent in our type of business and monitoring
risks is a continuing process undertaken with the available
resources. The major risk areas are as follows:
1.	Liquidity is critical to our business and the negative

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

impact can be devastating.
2.	Credit losses may increase due to non payment
of agreed installments. This would negatively
impact our retained earnings and ultimately our
safety ratios if not managed prudently. During the
year, we were exposed to Government debt that
defaulted.

Customers

3.

Operational risk due to the Bank’s information
systems, reputation of the Bank and its staff.

	The inculcation of our core values and sound
0

125,000

250,000

375,000

500,000

corporate governance principles remain critical in
all that we do to manage this risk.

It is pleasing to note that retained earnings increased by

Heads of Department are held responsible for key areas of

10% over the prior year, causing the Bank’s equity position

risk compliance in accordance with regulatory and internal

to grow by $5 million or 7% in line with our strategy. This

guidelines, with oversight provided by myself and the Board

is the result of conservative management of the Bank’s

of Directors.

capital.

The ratio of total assets to total shareholder’s

equity remained healthy at 6:1.
Other liabilities include a provision to meet obligations of

OUTLOOK

the Bank’s pension fund, Manager’s cheques payable and

The ability of the Bank to improve its profit performance

dividend payable.

is dependent on a number of factors, some beyond our
control. Government, fiscal and monetary policies impact

Capital management

the bottom line and the future performance cannot be

Capital risk for the Bank remained fairly low based on the

predicted with certainty. However, we remain optimistic

fact that the Tier 1 ratio is 22%, higher than the ratio of

and anticipate moderate growth in 2012.

8% guideline set by the Central Bank. If the non accrual
portfolio provision had increased to 50% or 100%, we

The decision by the Monetary Council to maintain the

anticipate that the capital adequacy ratio would decrease

savings rate on deposits floored at 3% stymies our efforts

to 14% and 10% respectively as a result of decreased profits

to reduce the interest rate on loans to ease the burden of

attributable to increased provisioning on loans.

loan payments to our customers.

Liquidity

Any Government decision not to honour debts once

The liquidity position fluctuated during the year but was

believed safe or risk free will be a major hindrance to the

moderately high at December 31st 2011. A total of $31.5

market and the Bank particularly in its role as an agent of

million was available to meet liquidity needs within one

economic change. We will continue to remain vigilant on

week, amounting to 8% of deposits. Investments held to

these positions and ensure that excess funds are invested

manage the liquidity position with maturities of up to one

in solid investments and in accordance with our Investment
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Policy.

additional features.

The introduction of operational processes to enhance

Cheque imaging, a system which scans vouchers and

automated payments will have an impact on our operations

cheques was launched early in the second quarter of 2011.

in the very near future. Recent regulation by the United

Upon full implementation, it will allow customers to view

States Government to increase its outreach to a larger

their cheques and deposits online as well as facilitate the

number of its citizens via the Foreign Account Tax (FATCA)

automated clearings system.

will have implications for cost and efficiency of our

also implemented during 2011 to improve operational

operations. We expect to assess the implications thoroughly

efficiency. The system allows all documents related to an

to determine our strategy on the way forward.

account to be electronically attached to the account when

Document imaging was

the account is accessed.
It is anticipated that VAT will be implemented during
the last quarter of 2012. Though we do not expect it to

We joined other Banks in the OECS Union in the establishment

affect our revenue, our expenses will increase somewhat.

of the Eastern Caribbean Automated Clearing House, set

Consequently more stringent monitoring systems will be

up to manage the new Automated Clearing House to

implemented to ensure performance improves and key

engender significant efficiencies for the banks in the ECCU

ratios are maintained.

region. Geared to improve the efficiency of the payments
system, the Automated Clearing House (ACH) project was

We expect competition for business will continue to remain

progressed sufficiently during 2011, for implementation in

fierce. Efforts by the Central Bank to reign in point 7 of its 8

the third quarter of 2012.

point plan response to the financial crisis will create doubt
and uncertainty and we plan to strengthen our position by

The Bank’s core (computer) system was upgraded during

increasing dialogue and forming strategic alliances with

the year in order to meet customer demands and changes in

our counterparts within the currency union.

technology. This upgrade was necessary to compete locally
and to offer customers the latest products in the banking

This year’s results demonstrate the Bank’s resilience and we

industry.

are confident that 2012 will bring similar results, despite
the uncertainties.

CUSTOMER SERVICE AND DELIVERY CHANNELS
1st National Bank was ready to assist its customers through
the post Hurricane Tomas and ongoing economic crises. As
a consequence a new loan product “7 x 7”, was developed
principally to assist affected customers. This was offered
until the first quarter of 2011. We have facilitated several
restructured and refinanced loans to help ease the burden
and allowed individuals and business houses additional

The opening of the Choc Bay sub-Branch has enabled the

credit via their overdraft facilities.

Bank to increase its delivery channel footprint in a hassle
free environment. Customers have the ability to operate

We remained focused on our mission to deliver excellent

the ATM and night safe from the safety of their vehicles.

service by using appropriate technology. The launch of our
smart banking product suite last year was well received.

Refurbishment work continued on the Bank’s main Branch

Early in 2011, a separate Card Services Department was

on Bridge Street to provide staff with more comfortable

created, headed by a Management official. This positions

accommodation. The Recoveries Department was relocated

the Bank to broaden its customer and revenue base and

to a newly renovated area on the ground floor of the

administratively accommodate the new requirements in

northern wing of the building, while work is ongoing on

security and product features as dictated by the growing

the upper floor.

demands in that sector.

positively on the enhancements.

Our mobile banking (MoBanking) product was extended to

Plans to refurbish the Rodney Bay sub-Branch were

the Digicel platform after having run on the LIME system

advanced during the year and the project is now scheduled

for a full year. The product was further enhanced with

to commence by the second quarter of 2012; delays have

Staff and customers alike commented

been due to mobilization issues. The management and
staff of the sub branch were presented with the Managing
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Director’s award at the Annual Gala Dinner and Awards

Over the years, we have highlighted many distinguished

Ceremony for their forbearance with respect to the

women in St. Lucia in their pursuit of excellence. We firmly

challenging environment within which they work.

believe that women have a role to play in nation building
and we provide ongoing support to the Ministry of Human

CORPORATE CITIZENSHIP AND OUTREACH

Services, Gender Relations and Family affairs in celebration
of March as Women’s Month.

We are a proud of our roots as a community bank and every

Community Outreach-doing something in

year we give back approximately 1% of our revenue. The

our Communities

various awards that we win each year are testament to

1st National Bank’s outreach into the communities around

the work that we do in all aspects of our business. The

St. Lucia was epitomized in its deliberate partnership with

nomination for the Corporate Social Responsibility Award

Do Something World, through the recently formed local

by the Chamber of Commerce and Agriculture demonstrates

branch, Do Something St. Lucia. The organization raised

how we impact lives in the community.

a public call for volunteer service and teamed up with us
to alleviate hardship following the devastation caused by

Our corporate citizenry role spans a number of disciplines in

Hurricane Tomas. The rehabilitation of the Fond St. Jacques

education, youth development and sports, arts and culture,

Primary School was one of the projects which we undertook

community outreach and health care. Each year, we receive

in that regard and our assistance to the school continues to

numerous requests for financial assistance form diverse

this day.

institutions and groups. However, our selection is based
on institutions, groups or individuals whose values fit our

Determined to make meaningful social change in people’s

corporate social responsibility profile.

lives, Bank staff and their families volunteered to assist
in the repair and clean up of the Soufriere Infant and

Education

Primary Schools and the Centre for Adolescent Renewal

Education is key to the development and prosperity of

and Education (Soufriere Centre). In collaboration with Do

a nation and 1st National Bank made its contribution by

Something St. Lucia Inc, the Boys Training Centre and its

enhancing its student loan packages, making it easier

surroundings were also given a much needed facelift.

for persons to realize their dreams. We donated a special
computer for musical composition and recording so that the

The National Community Foundation receives ongoing

CXC students at the Corinth Secondary School can complete

support through its annual National Telethon. Apart from

their School Based assessment projects in Music. For the

pledging financial support over a three year period totaling

year under review, the Bank disbursed several student loans

$30,000.00, our staff volunteer their time to assist with the

in subjects ranging from Business to Law, Economics and

administration of pledges on the day of the event.

Engineering.
As an indigenous institution, we continue to support
Opportunity was also created for the students of the

many other organizations and institutions in particular the

Centre for Adolescent Renewal and Education (C.A.R.E.) to

elderly, youth and marginalized in our society.

showcase their newly acquired vocational skills to the public
at their annual exhibition funded by the Bank. We have
maintained our support to this institution at $15,000.00
annually.
The Bank has established a long relationship with the Sir
Arthur Lewis Community College and participates in the
College’s annual Job Fair. This activity allows the students
to learn more about the institution and banking and to
think critically about their future career options.
Through collaboration with the University of the West Indies
Open Campus we have been able to invite top academics
from around the region to speak at the annual Pat Charles

Youth and Sports- energizing performance

Memorial Lecture. In 2011, Dr. Carolyn Cooper, Jamaican

through support

author, professor and literary scholar spoke on the subject

2011 marked the 18th year that the Bank collaborated

“Islands beyond envy: Liberating Nation Language in the
Caribbean”.
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with the St. Lucia Athletics Association to host the 13 and

and we are aware that development of the arts can

Under Track and Field championships, where our youngest

contribute in many ways to the national economy. It is for

athletes are first brought to national attention. For us,

this reason that we provide ongoing support to activities

these championships represent the spirit of perseverance,

like Nobel Laureate Week and the International Literary

discipline

Festival. The latter is the most significant cultural event

and

dedication

paramount

to

national

development.

sponsored by the Bank and we are proud to be the principal
sponsor of such an uplifting event. The headlining artist

We recognize talent in its various forms and Laverne

was popular regional comedian and story teller Paul Keens

Spencer has done us proud in the sporting arena. To enable

Douglas. Workshops in film and creative writing were also

her to compete on a level playing field internationally, we

held. A highlight of the festival is the Word Alive dramatic

partnered with other private sector organizations to ensure

poetry with music competition which we consider very

her journey to the 2012 London Olympics is a successful and

worthy of support.

memorable one.
The 1st National Bank National Secondary Schools

The Silver Shadow Dance Academy, a young vibrant

Swimming Championship saw for the first time, Vieux Fort

dance company successfully staged a critically acclaimed

Comprehensive Secondary School emerging overall winners

presentation entitled “Drum Song”.

of the 10 year old event. This event brings together young,

as well as the Nobel Laureate Workshop for Teachers of

talented swimmers from around the island for a day of

Literature sponsored by 1st National Bank, marked annual

healthy competition.

activities associated with Nobel Laureate week.

The St. Lucia Under 23 National Netball Team was the

We support cultural activities like our annual carnival and

recipient of much needed assistance to travel to St. Kitts

Just us Kids, Dynamic Kids, Rituals, St. Lucian Spirits, Kaiso

to participate in the OECS Regional Tournament where the

Headquarters and R.C. Jam are but a few of the recipients

team performed creditably.

of our ongoing support. Worthy of note was the St. Lucian

This presentation

Spirits Carnival Band’s portrayal of “The Penny Bank” in its
The Bank continues to support various sporting disciplines

portrayal of Historical Footnotes.

around the island including Annual Sports meets of infant,
primary and secondary schools. We provided assistance

Kaiso Headquarters, a production of the Royal St. Lucia

to the Choiseul Secondary School Cricket Team to travel

Police Force was well attended and establishes our support

overseas to Barbados to participate in a Cricket tournament.

for our police officers as they seek to foster positive relations
between the police and the public. The Bank has supported

Additionally, we continue to mentor young people through

this event from inception, some six years ago.

the Junior Achievement Program assisting them with
completing projects related to starting up a new business

Similarly, the St. Aloysius Roman Catholic Boys Primary

and providing other guidance where necessary.

School Calypso Competition (R. C. Jam) is another creative
activity supported by the Bank. Young talent is nurtured in
language skills, music, creative writing, composing, public

THE arts and culture - artistic expression for tomorrow

speaking, stage management, singing, vocal ability training
and performance. 1st National Bank is proud to be part of
developing creative minds for the future.
The Caribbean Youth Festival or Youth Fest is another major
activity for which the Bank has maintained its support. This
activity brings young people from the region together in a
show of talent to spread positive messages through music
and song.
Health Care- restoring mind and body
Apart from our annual $10,000 contribution to the National
Community Foundation (NCF), the Bank co-sponsored
Kouwi St. Lucie, a fun run-walk which is a precursor to NCF’s
annual telethon. This assists the NCF to raise awareness of

The Bank’s sponsorship of the arts and culture is unwavering

its work and to execute many of its work programs.
Another health related activity which the Bank supports is
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the annual Glaucoma Day. This activity is organized by the

The same can be said of the “Teller” which is a quarterly

St. Lucia Glaucoma Association and is geared towards the

publication which can be obtained from any branch of 1st

observance of World Glaucoma Day. The aim is to sensitize

National Bank and which is also available online on the

the general public about this serious eye disease. This year

Bank’s website. The “Teller” chronicles the Bank’s activities

the focus was on eye care/health and the activity was held

in the communities around St. Lucia with a measured dose

in the southern town of Vieux Fort.

of information on money management.

The St. Lucia Sickle Cell Association also received a financial

HUMAN RESOURCES

donation from the Bank to assist in relocating to more
convenient and spacious surroundings where patients can

In tandem with its overall strategic objectives, the Bank

be received, counseled and treated.

views its employees as being at the core of its continued
growth and profitability.

1st National Bank continues to support various organizations
in their fund raising efforts. These include the St. Lucia

During the year under review our Human Resource policies

Arthritis and Lupus Association, the St. Lucia Blind Welfare

and initiatives re-enforced the creation of opportunities

Association and the St. Lucia Crisis Centre.

to enable staff development, motivation, empowerment,
productivity

and

efficiency,

culminating

in

year-end

Financial Literacy-knowledge is power

profits, as well as in the Bank receiving the prestigious St.

1st National Bank encourages and promotes wise money

Lucia Business Awards for Excellence in Human Resource

management by the youth, starting with infant and primary

Development and Service Excellence for the year 2011.

level students. This is reflected in its 1st Step savings product

The following are highlights of relevant initiatives

for young persons. This year, the Dame Pearlette Louisy

undertaken during 2011:-

Primary School Savings Club took the opportunity to begin
the habit of saving at our newly established sub branch at

(i)	The roll-out of a comprehensive annual training

Choc Bay. The savings strategy was also evidenced when

programme to which staff throughout the

the Bank awarded Prizes of savings accounts to the winners

institution were exposed.

of the R.C. Jam Calypso Competition.
	This programme incorporated a range of training,
We partnered with the Office of Private Sector Relations

coaching and mentoring activities with the

(OPSR) in launching the National Savings and Investment

objectives of:-

Programme endorsed by the Governor of the Eastern
Caribbean Central Bank (ECCB), Sir K. Dwight Venner. The
Bank also donated prizes in the form of savings accounts
to the primary and secondary school winners of the essay

-

Building inspirational leadership capacity

-

Improving the management of credit risk

competition entitled “Putting my money to work for
me: How saving and investing today can make a brighter
future.”
For yet another year, Bank personnel participated in financial
literacy month held annually in October. The theme for the
year was “grow your savings”. In collaboration with the
ECCB Agency Office , we visited several schools around the
island to discuss and impart financial information pertinent
to the theme.

-	Enhancing customer care and service
-	Developing expertise in information technology

Our multi-media platform was utilized to effectively educate

-	Strengthening technical skills and knowledge base

customers, staff and the community at large about prudent

-	Supporting employees continuing professional

money management to achieve life’s many goals. During

development(ii)	The strategic strengthening and

2011, the Bank continued to demonstrate its corporate

expansion of the

social responsibility via its fortnightly television program

institution’s network to achieve human resource,

“1st National Bank Notes”. The aim is not only to indicate

operations and service delivery synergies and

the Bank’s willingness and capacity to help ordinary citizens

efficiencies.

but to encourage other corporate entities to do more
to aid in nation building.
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	Related activities during the review period
included:-	The completion of the renovation of another wing
at the Bridge Street offices which greatly improved
the workplace ambiance for the staff of the
	Recoveries Unit who were relocated in 2011.
-	The mounting of a series of sessions during 2011
dealing with aspects of personal development,
work ethics and professional image enhancement
in keeping with our core values of Integrity,
Confidentiality, and Professionalism.
-	The fostering by management of an open door
In this regard, the Bank focused on:-	Staff retention, notwithstanding the continued
impact of the global recession.
-	The creation of additional jobs, occasioned by the
establishment of a separate Card Services &
Business Development Unit and the Choc Bay sub
Branch in January and August 2011
respectively.

policy and accessibility to staff on critical matters
affecting them.
-	The continued introduction of cutting edge, user
friendly technology to facilitate information access
for work related purposes.
-	The resulting continued enjoyment by all
employees of a very stable industrial climate,
heightened by the genuine efforts of supervisory
and managerial personnel to improve
communication and team spirit at all levels by
engendering an attitude of mutual respect and
cooperation among staff.
(iv)	The recognition of staff’s contribution; and the
appreciation of their loyalty and commitment to
the vision and mission of the Bank.
Activities centred on:-	The distribution within the first quarter of 2011 of
a share of the previous year’s profits to all eligible

-	The promotion during the year of some thirteen
(13) persons primarily to positions within the
supervisory grades.
-	The ongoing cascading of the redesigned
Performance Management System throughout the
Bank.
-	The adoption in late 2011 by the Human
	Resource Committee of a draft Management
	Succession Policy for ratification by the Board.
(iii) 	The creation of a comfortable and
harmonious working environment, conducive to
effective communication and team building.
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staff.
-	The payment of individual performance based
annual salary increments in keeping with industry
standards.
-	The honouring of several staff members at the
Bank’s Annual Dinner and Awards Ceremony held
in December, 2011.

Shareholders are reminded that they should contact
the Corporate Secretary to update their addresses
and dividend payment instructions where necessary.
The payment of dividend via credit to an established
account with us is the most efficient means of
payment and we encourage shareholders to utilize
this payment method as far as is practical.
For your information, we have included in the table below
the election and re-election dates of the non executive
Directors on the Board.
ROTATION OF DIRECTORS IN ACCORDANCE WITH
Indeed, the focus on Human Resource development in

SECTION 4 OF BY-LAW NO.1

2011 positively impacted service excellence and financial
performance within the Bank.

NAME

YEAR OF ELECTION/
RE-ELECTION

Charmaine Gardner

1990/2010

Cyril Matthew

1998/2010

Nigel Fulgence

2000/2009

Brenda Floissac-Fleming

1993/2011

dedicated employees.

Joseph Maxwell

2001/2008

Christian Husbands

2003/2009

At the time of her death, Mrs. Dorville-Onunwa had served

Johnson Cenac

2008/2011

Thedburt Theobalds

2008/2011

Geraldine Lendor –Gabriel

2011

In Memoriam – Mrs. Marcia Dorville-Onunwa
In December of 2011, the entire Bank fraternity was deeply
saddened by the untimely passing of Mrs. Marcia DorvilleOnunwa, considered to be one of the Bank’s most loyal and

the Bank for twenty five years and had recently taken up
her appointment as Officer-in-Charge of the Choc Bay Sub
Branch.

Acknowledgments
It is my good fortune to work with a dedicated team of
individuals who have provided the support needed to deliver
improved results this year. I wish to thank them all. Their
forbearance and patience while we revamped our premises
during the year is commendable. I urge them to continue to
give of their best and to live the Bank’s core values.
The result for 2011 could not have been attained without
the support of our customers. I wish to thank those who
have remained loyal to us and gave us the opportunity
to excel everyday. Your feedback, together with that of
the public, is critical to assisting us in meeting the high
standards we have set for ourselves.
Finally, I wish to thank the Board of Directors for their
continued support.
She will certainly be missed by her colleagues.
Shareholder information
The Bank’s share capital remained stable at 4,999,966 shares.

G Carlton Glasgow

Some 56,664 shares were transferred, 1,500 of which were

Managing Director

to private companies. The total number of shareholders at
December 31st 2011 stood at 1,338. No individual or group
of persons own more than 20% of the Bank’s shares; the
largest shareholder holds 15.3% of the shares.
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Winning
Ways

1st National Bank has earned the reputation of being an industry
leader. We have been recognized nationally by the St. Lucia Chamber of
Commerce. This year we were awarded the Annual Business Award for
Excellence in Human Resource Development and Service Excellence. This
follows on the heels of three awards received in 2011 being :
Corporate Social Responsibility, Corporate Leadership and
Business of The Year. Our winning ways are
credited to our dedicated staff, loyal customers, visionary
leadership all rooted in the philosophy and values
upon which the company was built nearly
75 years ago.
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Management Team
First Row (Left to Right): G. CARLTON GLASGOW - MANAGING DIRECTOR, AUREA LAFEUILLEE - FINANCE
MANAGER, jOSEPH FEDEE - OPERATIONS MANAGER, DENISE HOLDEN-PIERRE - MANAGER INTERNAL AUDIT,
Second Row (Left to Right): BERYL CARASCO-ALLEYNE - HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGER & CORPORATE
SECRETARY, , ROBERT FEVRIER - MANAGER PROJECTS & SERVICES, CLARETTE AUGUSTE-TAYLOR - CREDIT RISK
MANAGER VALERY MARSHALL-ST. OMER - ASSISTANT OPERATIONS MANAGER, , NAOMI PROMESSSE-EDWARD MANAGER, VIEUX-FORT SUB-BRANCH, ,
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First Row (Left to Right): SYLVIA ALCEE - MANAGER RODNEY BAY SUBBRANCH, PATRICIA HOWELL. - ASSISTANT MANAGER, LENDINGS, PETER
FLOISSAC - ASSISTANT MANAGER, RECOVERIES
Second Row (Left to Right): BEVERLEY ANN GREENE - ASSISTANT MANAGER,
FINANCE, MANSLEY JULIUS - ASSISTANT MANAGER, ACCOUNTING, HERMINA
FRANCIS - ASSISTANT MANAGER, CARD SERVICES,

Growth and Profitability []
The Fruit of Local Knowledge and Community Focus

Growth and Profitability []
The Fruit of Local Knowledge and Community Focus

New Branch
Branching out to serve you better - our Choc sub Branch is now open
at Mercury Court, Choc Bay. Its top notch team displays the local
knowledge that has characterized 1st National Bank’s service to the
communities. We now have 7 operating units open across the nation,
offering 7 days per week banking services and flexible hours - all for
you. We expand our network to deepen our relationships in every
community, with hands-on and local
expertise to ensure your banking needs are met with the
know how to best attain your dreams.
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Manager
InternaL Audit

April 27, 2012
Independent Auditors’ Report
To the Shareholders of
1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of 1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited (the Bank) which comprise
the balance sheet as of December 3 I, 2011 and the statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash
flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether clue to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, hut not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Bank as of December 31, 2011, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Accountants

PricewaterhouseCoopers, Point Seraph me, P.O. Box 195, Castries, St. Lucia, West Indies
T: (758) 452-2511, F: (758) 452-1061, www.pwc.com/lc

“PricewaterhouseCoopers” refers to the East Caribbean firm of PricewaterhouseCoopers. A full listing of the partners of the East Caribbean firm is available on request
at the above address.

1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
1st National Bank St. Lucia Balance
Limited Sheet
Balance Sheet

As of December 31, 2011

As of December 31, 2011

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

Note

2011
$

2010
$

5
6
7
8
9

35,171,352
19,851,680
21,622,685
32,232,926
330,217,149

26,786,364
15,171,047
9,235,477
56,395,260
305,328,634

11
11

10,291,050
14,422,198
1,605,483
15,882,050
4,642,151
–

13,611,702
16,264,813
1,844,257
14,450,128
7,024,006
358,544

485,938,724

466,470,232

404,093,164
5,796,896
393,000
72,895

388,402,319
6,819,199
527,000
–

410,355,955

395,748,518

7,971,454
54,194,989
13,416,326

7,971,454
49,299,114
13,451,146

75,582,769

70,721,714

485,938,724

466,470,232

Assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank
Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Loans and advances to financial institutions
Loans and advances to customers
Investment securities:
- available-for-sale
- held-to-maturity
Income tax recoverable
Property, plant and equipment
Other assets
Deferred income tax asset

12
13
17

Total assets

Liabilities
Due to customers
Other liabilities
Retirement benefit obligations
Deferred income tax liability

14
15
16
17

Total liabilities

Equity
Capital and reserves
Share capital
Retained earnings
Reserves

18

Total equity
Total liabilities and equity

Approved by the Board of Directors on April 5, 2012

___________________________________ Director

_______________________________ Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
1st National Bank St. Lucia
Limited of Income
Statement
Statement of Income

For the year ended December 31, 2011

For the year ended December 31, 2011

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

Note

2011
$

2010
$

Interest and similar income

20

35,079,860

32,992,686

Interest expense and similar charges

20

(13,954,056)

(12,994,882)

21,125,804

19,997,804

6,271,622

4,618,687

27,397,426

24,616,491

Net interest income
Other operating income

21

Operating income
Other operating expenses

22

(14,848,062)

(13,774,172)

Impairment losses

25

(3,700,006)

(2,538,373)

8,849,358

8,303,946

(1,937,947)

(1,752,303)

6,911,411

6,551,643

1.38

1.31

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

26

Profit for the year
Earnings per share
(expressed in EC$ per share)
- basic and diluted

27

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
Statement
Statement of Comprehensive
Incomeof Comprehensive Income
1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited

For the year ended December 31, 2011

For the year ended December 31, 2011

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

Profit for the year

2011
$

2010
$

6,911,411

6,551,643

Other comprehensive income
Net fair value losses on available-for-sale financial assets

(50,370)

(34,040)

Total other comprehensive loss for the year

(50,370)

(34,040)

Total comprehensive income for the year

6,861,041

6,517,603

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

7,971,454

–

–

Transfer to retained earnings
7,971,454

–

–

Dividends relating to 2010

4,908,362

15,550

–

–

–
–

4,892,812

536,510

–

–

(50,370)

–
(50,370)

586,880

586,880

–

–

(34,040)

–
(34,040)

620,920

54,194,989

(15,550)

(1,999,986)

6,911,411

6,911,411
–

49,299,114

49,299,114

46,588

(1,999,986)

6,551,643

6,551,643
–

44,700,869

Retained
Earnings
$
66,204,097

Total
Equity
$

75,582,769

–

(1,999,986)

6,861,041

6,911,411
(50,370)

70,721,714

70,721,714

–

(1,999,986)

6,517,603

6,551,643
(34,040)

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

Balance at December 31, 2011

–

–

Total comprehensive income

–
–

7,971,454

–
–

7,971,454

4,892,812

(46,588)

–

–

–
–

4,939,400

Revaluation
Reserve
$

Revaluation
Reserve –
available –
for-sale
$

December 31, 2011

Comprehensive income
Profit for the year
Fair value losses on available-for- sale financial assets

Balance at January 1, 2011

7,971,454

–

–

Transfer to retained earnings
7,971,454

–

–

Dividends relating to 2009

Balance at December 31, 2010

–

–

Total comprehensive income

–
–

7,971,454

Statutory
Reserve
$

–
–

7,971,454

Share
Capital
$

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

Comprehensive income
Profit for the year
Fair value losses on available-for-sale financial assets

Balance at January 1, 2010

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

For the year ended December 31, 2011

For the year ended December 31, 2011

1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
1 National Bank St. Lucia
Limited
Statement
of Changes in Equity
Statement of Changes in Equity

st

1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
Notes to Financial Statements

The Fruit of Local Knowledge and Community Focus

Growth and Profitability []

1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
of Cash Flows
1st National Bank St.Statement
Lucia Limited
Statement of Cash Flows For the year ended December 31, 2011
For the year ended December 31, 2011

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

Note

2011
$

2010
$

8,849,358

8,303,946

1,863,065
2,807
3,700,006
51,000
(114,240)
(35,079,860)
13,954,056

1,570,931
2,689
2,538,373
55,000
(88,660)
(32,992,686)
12,994,882

(6,773,808)

(7,615,525)

(3,134,929)

1,206,214

23,809,738
(24,736,972)
2,381,855
15,432,364
(1,124,228)

(8,209,029)
(24,243,674)
(4,103,176)
23,082,480
2,973,790

5,854,020

(16,908,920)

32,793,743
(13,695,575)
(1,267,734)

29,959,881
(13,052,059)
(2,005,842)

23,684,454

(2,006,940)

(12,047,333)
(7,011,863)
10,572,049
114,240
18,001
(3,315,795)

7,630,270
(8,649,675)
13,683,594
88,660
–
(692,587)

(11,670,701)

12,060,262

Dividends paid on ordinary shares
Retirement benefit contributions paid

(1,898,061)
(185,000)

(1,986,962)
(187,000)

Net cash used in financing activities

(2,083,061)

(2,173,962)

9,930,692

7,879,360

21,471,195

13,591,835

31,401,887

21,471,195

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before income tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Impairment losses
Retirement benefit obligations
Dividend income
Interest and similar income
Interest expense and similar charges

12
25
16
21
20
20

Cash flow before changes in operating assets and liabilities
(Increase)/decrease in mandatory reserve deposits with Central
Bank
Decrease/(increase) in loans and advances to financial
institutions
Increase in loans and advances to customers
Decrease/(increase) in other assets
Increase in due to customers
(Decrease)/increase in other liabilities
Cash generated from/(used in) operations
Interest and similar income received
Interest expense and similar charges paid
Income taxes paid
Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase/proceeds from sale of treasury bills, net
Purchase of investment securities
Proceeds from sale of investment securities
Dividends received
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

12

Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

29

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
toLimited
Financial Statements
1st National BankNotes
St. Lucia
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2011

December 31, 2011

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

1

General information
1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited, (the Bank) was incorporated in Saint Lucia in December 1937 and
continued under the Companies Act of 1996. In addition to compliance with the Companies Act of 1996, the
Bank is also subject to the provisions of the Banking Act of Saint Lucia No. 34 of 2006. The Bank commenced
trading in January 1938 and provides retail banking services including the acceptance of deposits, granting of
loans, the provision of foreign exchange services, commercial banking services and electronic banking services.
The Bank has five branches and two bureaux de change. The registered office and principal place of business
of the Bank is #21 Bridge Street, Castries, Saint Lucia.

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
2.1 Basis of preparation
The financial statements of the Bank have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS). The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified
by the revaluation of land and buildings and available-for-sale financial assets.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Bank’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.
a) New standard issued and effective for the financial year beginning January 1, 2011:
Revised IAS 24 (revised), ‘Related party disclosures’, issued in November 2009. It supersedes IAS 24,
‘Related party disclosures’, issued in 2003. IAS 24 (revised) is mandatory for periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2011. The Company has applied the revised standard from January 1, 2011. There has been no
significant impact on the related party disclosures.
b) New standards and amendment issued but not yet effective
The following standard and amendment have been issued and are mandatory for the Bank’s accounting
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2012:
IAS 19, ‘Employee benefits’ was amended in June 2011. The impact on the Bank will be as follows: to
eliminate the corridor approach and recognise all actuarial gains and losses in OCI as they occur; to
immediately recognise all past service costs; and to replace interest cost and expected return on plan assets
with a net interest amount that is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability
(asset). The Bank is yet to assess the full impact of the amendment.
IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’, addresses the classification, measurement and recognition of financial assets
and financial liabilities. IFRS 9 was issued in November 2009 and October 2010. It replaces the parts of IAS 39
that relate to the classification and measurement of financial instruments. IFRS 9 requires financial assets to be
classified into two measurement categories: those measured as at fair value and those measured at amortised
cost. The determination is made at initial recognition. The classification depends on the entity’s business model
for managing its financial instruments and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the instrument. For
financial liabilities, the standard retains most of the IAS 39 requirements.

(1)
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1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2011

December 31, 2011

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

2

Summary of significant accounting policies…continued
b) New standard and amendment issued but not yet effective…continued
The main change is that, in cases where the fair value option is taken for financial liabilities, the part of a fair
value change due to an entity’s own credit risk is recorded in other comprehensive income rather than the
income statement, unless this creates an accounting mismatch. The Bank is yet to assess IFRS 9’s full impact
and intends to adopt IFRS 9 no later than the accounting period beginning on or after January 1, 2013.
IFRS 13, ‘Fair value measurement’, aims to improve consistency and reduce complexity by providing a precise
definition of fair value and a single source of fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for use across
IFRSs. The requirements, which are largely aligned between IFRSs and US GAAP, do not extend the use of fair
value accounting but provide guidance on how it should be applied where its use is already required or permitted
by other standards within IFRSs or US GAAP. The Bank is yet to assess IFRS13’s full impact and intends to
adopt IFRS 13 no later than the accounting period beginning on or after January 1, 2012.
c) Early adoption of standards
The Bank did not early-adopt any new or amended standards in 2011.
2.2 Foreign currency translation
(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The financial statements are presented in Eastern Caribbean
dollars, which is the Bank’s functional and presentation currency.
(b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of income.
2.3 Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than
three months maturity from the date of acquisition, including cash and non-restricted balances with the Central
Bank and deposits with other banks.
2.4 Sale and repurchase agreements
Securities purchased under agreements to resell (‘reverse repos’) are recorded as loans and advances to
financial institutions or customers, as appropriate. The difference between sale and repurchase price is treated
as interest and accrued over the life of the agreements using the effective interest method.
2.5 Financial assets and liabilities
The Bank classifies its financial assets in the following categories: loans and receivables, held-to-maturity
investments, and available-for-sale financial assets. The classification depends on the purpose for which the
investments were acquired. Management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition
and re-evaluates this designation at every reporting date.

(2)
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Notes to Financial Statements
1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2011

December 31, 2011

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

2

Summary of significant accounting policies…continued
2.5.1 Financial assets
(a) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market, other than: (a) those that the Bank intends to sell immediately or in the short term, which are
classified as held for trading, and those that the Bank upon initial recognition designates as at fair value through
profit or loss; (b) those that the Bank upon initial recognition designates as available for sale; or (c) those for which
the holder may not recover substantially all of its initial investment, other than because of credit deterioration.
Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value – which is the cash consideration to originate or
purchase the loan including any transaction costs – and measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method. Loans and receivables are reported in the balance sheet as loans and advances to financial
institutions or customers. Interest on loans is included in the statement of income and is reported as ‘Interest and
similar income’. In the case of an impairment, the impairment loss is reported as a deduction from the carrying
value of the loan and recognised in the statement of income as ‘Impairment losses on loans and advances’.
(b) Held-to-maturity
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed
maturities that the Bank’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity, other than: (a)
those that the Bank upon initial recognition designates as at fair value through profit or loss; (b) those that the
Bank designates as available for sale; and (c) those that meet the definition of loans and receivables.
These are initially recognised at fair value including direct and incremental transaction costs and measured
subsequently at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
Interest on held-to-maturity investments is included in the statement of income and reported as ‘Interest and
similar income’. In the case of an impairment, the impairment loss is reported as a deduction from the carrying
value of the investment and recognised in the statement of income.
(c) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale investments are financial assets that are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time,
which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, exchange rates or equity prices
or that are not classified as loans and receivables, held to- maturity investments or financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss.
Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognised at fair value, which is the cash consideration including
any transaction costs, and measured subsequently at fair value with gains and losses being recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income, except for impairment losses and foreign exchange gains and losses, until the
financial asset is derecognised. If an available-for-sale financial asset is determined to be impaired, the cumulative
gain or loss previously recognised in the statement of comprehensive income is recognised in the statement of
income. However, interest is calculated using the effective interest method, and foreign currency gains and losses
on monetary assets classified as available for sale are recognised in the statement of income. Dividends on
available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in the statement of income in ‘Dividend income’ when the
Bank’s right to receive payment is established. Available-for-sale equity securities that are not listed are carried at
cost less impairment since the Bank is not able to reliably measure the fair value of the equity securities and the
future cash flows relating to the securities cannot be reliably estimated.
(d) Recognition
The Bank uses trade date accounting for regular way contracts when recording financial asset transactions.
Financial assets that are transferred to a third party but do not qualify for derecognition are presented in the
balance sheet as ‘Assets pledged as collateral’, if the transferee has the right to sell or repledge them.
(3)
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December 31, 2011

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

2

Summary of significant accounting policies…continued
2.5.2 Financial liabilities
The Bank’s holding in financial liabilities is at amortised cost. Financial liabilities are derecognised when
extinguished.
(a) Liabilities measured at amortised cost
Financial liabilities that are not classified as at fair value through profit or loss fall into this category and are
measured at amortised cost. Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost are deposits from customers.
2.5.3 Determination of fair value
The fair values of quoted investments in active markets are based on current bid prices. If there is no active market
for a financial asset (and for unlisted securities), the Bank establishes fair value by using valuation techniques.
These include the use of recent arm’s length transactions, and other valuation techniques commonly used by
market participants.
2.5.4 Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from these assets have
ceased to exist or the assets have been transferred and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
assets are also transferred (that is, if substantially all the risks and rewards have not been transferred, the Bank tests
control to ensure that continuing involvement on the basis of any retained powers of control does not prevent
derecognition). Financial liabilities are derecognised when they have been redeemed or otherwise extinguished.
2.6 Property, plant and equipment
Land and buildings comprise mainly branches and offices. Land and buildings are shown at fair value, based
on valuations by external independent valuers done every 5 years, less subsequent depreciation for buildings.
Any accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount
is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. All other assets are stated at historical cost less depreciation.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Bank and the cost of
the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of income
during the financial period in which they are incurred.
Land is not depreciated. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method for buildings and the
reducing balance method for all other property, plant and equipment to allocate their cost or revalued amounts
to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:
Buildings
Furniture and fixtures
Equipment
Motor vehicles

2%
10%
15- 25%
20%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included
in the statement of income.
(4)
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Summary of significant accounting policies…continued
2.7 Impairment of financial assets
(a) Assets carried at amortised cost
The Bank assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group
of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses
are incurred only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred
after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
The criteria that the Bank uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss include:
-

Delinquency in contractual payments of principal or interest;
Cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower (for example, equity ratio, net income percentage of sales);
Breach of loan covenants or conditions;
Initiation of bankruptcy proceedings;
Deterioration of the borrower’s competitive position; and
Deterioration in the value of collateral.

The Bank first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that
are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Bank determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit
risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for
impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial asset has been incurred, the amount of the loss
is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and
the amount of the loss is recognised in the statement of income. If a loan or held-to-maturity investment has a
variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate
determined under the contract.
The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralised financial asset reflects
the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not
foreclosure is probable.
When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related provision for loan impairment. Such loans are
written off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has been
determined. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off decrease the amount of the provision for
loan impairment in the statement of income.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s
credit rating), the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The
amount of the reversal is recognised in the statement of income.
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Summary of significant accounting policies…continued
2.7 Impairment of financial assets…continued
(b) Assets classified as available for sale
The Bank assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group
of financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered in determining whether the assets
are impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss – measured as
the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial
asset previously recognised in comprehensive income – is removed from comprehensive income and recognised in
the statement of income. Impairment losses recognised in the statement of income on equity instruments are not
reversed through the statement of income. If in subsequent periods, the fair value of a debt instrument classified
as available-for-sale increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed through the statement of
income.
(c) Renegotiated loans
Loans that are either subject to collective impairment assessment or individually significant and whose terms
have been renegotiated are no longer considered to be past due but are treated as new loans. In subsequent
years, the asset is considered to be past due and disclosed only if renegotiated.
2.8 Impairment of other non-financial assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment.
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating units).
2.9 Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
2.10 Guarantees and letters of credit
Guarantees and letters of credit comprise undertakings by the Bank to pay bills of exchange drawn on customers.
The Bank expects most guarantees and letters of credit to be settled simultaneously with the reimbursement from
the customers.
Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the financial statements at fair value on the date the guarantee was
given. The fair value of a financial guarantee at the time of signature is zero because all guarantees are agreed on
arm’s length terms and the value of the premium agreed corresponds to the value of the guarantee obligation. No
receivable for the future premiums is recognised. Subsequent to initial recognition, the bank’s liabilities under such
guarantees are measured at the higher of the initial amount, less amortisation of fees recognised in accordance with
IAS 18, and the best estimate of the amount required to settle the guarantee. These estimates are determined based
on experience of similar transactions and history of past losses, supplemented by the judgement of management.
The fee income earned is recognised on a straight-line basis over the life of the guarantee. Any increase in the
liability relating to guarantees is reported in the statement of income within other operating expenses.
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Summary of significant accounting policies…continued
2.11 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when: the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events; it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the
amount has been reliably estimated.
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood
of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.
2.12 Employee benefits
(a) Pension obligation
The Bank operates a defined benefit plan for all employees. The assets of the plan are held separately. The pension
plan is funded through payments from employees and the Bank, taking account of the recommendations of
independent qualified actuaries. A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension that an
employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and
compensation.
The liability recognized in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the
defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date less the fair value of plan assets, together with adjustments for
unrecognized actuarial gains or losses and past service costs. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually
by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit
obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of government
securities that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity
approximating to the terms of the related pension liability.
Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions in excess of
the greater of 10% of the value of plan assets or 10% of the defined benefit obligation are charged or credited to
income over the employees’ expected average remaining working lives. Past-service costs are recognized
immediately in the statement of income, unless the changes to the pension plan are conditional on the employees
remaining in service for a specified period of time (the vesting period). In this case, the past-service costs are
amortized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.
(b) Profit-sharing and bonus plans
The Bank recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit-sharing, based on a formula that takes into
consideration the profit attributable to the Bank’s shareholders after certain adjustments. The Bank recognises a
provision where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.
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Summary of significant accounting policies…continued
2.13 Income tax
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred income
tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet
date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax
liability is settled. The principal temporary differences arise from depreciation of property, plant and
equipment. If the deferred income tax arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss, it is not accounted for.
Deferred tax assets are recognised where it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.
Income tax payable on profits, based on the applicable tax law is recognised as an expense in the period in
which profits arise. The tax effects of income tax losses available for carry forward are recognised as an asset
when it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which these losses can be utilised.
2.14

Share capital

(a) Share issue costs
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction from the
proceeds.
(b) Dividends on ordinary shares
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are approved by the shareholders.
Dividends for the year declared after the balance sheet date are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
2.15 Interest income and expense
Interest income and expense for all interest bearing financial instruments are recognised within “interest income”
and “interest expense” in the statement of income using the effective interest method.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial
liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the
financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or
financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Bank estimates cash flows considering all
contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment options) but does not consider future
credit losses. The calculation includes all fees and points paid or received between parties to the contract that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.
Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of an impairment
loss, interest income is recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the
purpose of measuring the impairment loss.
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Summary of significant accounting policies…continued
2.16 Fee and commission income
Fees and commissions are generally recognised on an accrual basis when the service has been provided. Loan
commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down are deferred (together with related direct costs) and
recognised as an adjustment to the effective interest rate on the loan. Performance linked fees or fee components
are recognised when the performance criteria are fulfilled.
2.17 Dividend income
Dividends are recognised in the statement of income when the Bank’s right to receive payment is established.
2.18

Leases

(a) The Bank is the lessee
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the
lessor) are charged to the statement of income on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
(b) The Bank is the lessor
When assets are leased out under an operating lease, the assets are included in the balance sheet based on the
nature of the assets. Lease income is recognised over the term of the lease on a straight line basis.
2.19 Financial instruments
Financial instruments carried on the balance sheet include cash resources, investment securities, loans and
advances to customers, loans and advance to financial institutions, deposits with other banks, deposits from
banks and due to customers. The particular recognition methods adopted are disclosed in the individual policy
statement associated with each item.
2.20 Comparatives
Except when a standard or an interpretation permits or requires otherwise, all amounts are reported or disclosed
with comparative information.
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Financial risk management
The Bank’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve the analysis, evaluation,
acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of risks. Taking risk is core to the financial
business, and the operational risks are an inevitable consequence of being in business. The Bank’s aim is
therefore to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return and minimise potential adverse effects on the
Bank’s financial performance.
The Bank’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set appropriate risk limits
and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of reliable and up-to-date information
systems. The Bank regularly reviews its risk management policies and systems to reflect changes in markets,
products and emerging best practice.
Risk management is mainly carried out by the Finance Department under policies approved by the Board of
Directors. Management identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co-operation with the Bank’s
operating units. The Board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies
covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and credit risk. In addition, internal audit
is responsible for the independent review of risk management and the control environment.
The most important types of risk are credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk and other operational risk. Market risk
includes currency risk, interest rate and other price risk.
3.1 Credit risk
The Bank takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will cause a financial loss for the
Bank by failing to discharge their contractual obligation to the Bank. Significant changes in the economy, or in the
health of a particular industry segment that represents a concentration in the Bank’s portfolio, could result in
losses that are different from those provided for at the balance sheet date. Management therefore carefully
manages its exposure to credit risk. Credit exposures arise principally in lending activities that lead to loans and
advances, and investment activities that bring debt securities and other bills into the Bank’s asset portfolio. There
is also credit risk in off-balance sheet financial instruments such as loan commitments. The credit risk is managed
and controlled by management who reports to the Board of Directors.
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Financial risk management…continued
3.1.1 Credit risk measurement
(a) Loans and advances
Eastern Caribbean Central Bank prudential guidelines are embedded in the Bank’s daily operational management.
The operational measurements can be contrasted with impairment allowances required under IAS 39, which are
based on losses that have been incurred at the balance sheet date (the ‘incurred loss model’).
The Bank assesses the probability of default of individual counterparties using the Eastern Caribbean Central
Bank prudential guidelines. Clients of the Bank are segmented into five rating classes. The Bank’s rating scale,
which is shown below, reflects the range of default probabilities defined for each rating class. This means that, in
principle, exposures migrate between classes as the assessment of their probability of default changes. The Bank
regularly validates the performance of the rating and their predictive power with regard to default events.
Bank’s internal ratings scale
Bank’s rating

Description of the grade

1
2
3
4
5

Pass
Special Mention
Substandard
Doubtful
Loss

(b) Debt securities and other bills
For debt securities and other bills, external rating such as Caricris or their equivalents are used by management
for management of the credit risk exposures.
3.1.2 Risk limit control and mitigation policies
The Bank manages, limits and controls concentrations of credit risk wherever they are identified − in particular,
to individual counterparties and groups, and to industries.
The Bank structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in
relation to one borrower, or groups of borrowers, and to the industry segments. Such risks are monitored on a
revolving basis and subject to an annual or more frequent review by the Board of Directors.
The exposure to any one borrower including banks and brokers is further restricted by sub-limits covering onand off-balance sheet exposures, and daily delivery risk limits in relation to trading items. Actual exposures
against limits are monitored daily.
Exposure to credit risk is also managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential
borrowers to meet interest and capital repayment obligations and by changing these lending limits where
appropriate.
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Financial risk management…continued
3.1.2 Risk limit control and mitigation policies…continued
Some other specific control and mitigation measures are outlined below.
(a) Collateral
The Bank employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most traditional of these is
the taking of security for funds advanced, which is common practice. The Bank implements guidelines on
the acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit risk mitigation. The principal collateral types for
loans and advances are:
-

Mortgages over residential properties;
Charges over business assets such as premises, inventory and accounts receivable; and
Charges over financial instruments such as debt securities and equities.

Longer-term finance and lending to corporate entities are generally secured; revolving individual credit
facilities are generally unsecured. In addition, in order to minimize the credit loss the Bank will seek additional
collateral from the counterparty as soon as impairment indicators are noticed for the relevant individual loans
and advances.
Collateral held as security for financial assets other than loans and advances is determined by the nature of the
instrument. Debt securities, treasury and other eligible bills are generally unsecured.
(b) Credit-related commitments
The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a customer as required.
Guarantees and standby letters of credit carry the same credit risk as loans. Documentary and commercial
letters of credit – which are written undertakings by the Bank on behalf of a customer authorising a third party
to draw drafts on the Bank up to a stipulated amount under specific terms and conditions – are collateralised
by the underlying shipments of goods to which they relate and therefore carry less risk than a direct loan.
Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of authorizations to extend credit in the form of loans,
guarantees or letters of credit. With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend credit, the Bank is
potentially exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused commitments. However, the likely amount of
loss is less than the total unused commitments, as most commitments to extend credit are contingent upon
customers maintaining specific credit standards. The Bank monitors the term to maturity of credit commitments
because longer-term commitments generally have a greater degree of credit risk than shorter-term
commitments.
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Financial risk management…continued
3.1.3
Impairment and provisioning policies
The impairment provision shown in the balance sheet at year-end is derived from each of the five internal
rating grades. The table below shows the percentage of the Bank’s on-balance sheet items relating to loans and
advances and the associated impairment provision for each of the Bank’s internal rating categories:
2011
Loans and Impairment
advances
provision
(%)
(%)
Bank’s rating
1. Pass
2. Special mention
3. Sub-standard
4. Doubtful
5. Loss

85.4%
1.4%
8.5%
2.9%
1.8%

24.7%
0.2%
28.8%
19.0%
27.3%

2010
Loans and Impairment
advances
provision
(%)
(%)
85.7%
1.4%
7.6%
3.4%
1.9%

20.7%
0.1%
24.3%
24.5%
30.4%

The internal rating tool assists management to determine whether objective evidence of impairment exists,
based on the following criteria set out by the Bank:
-

Delinquency in contractual payments of principal or interest;
Cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower (e.g. equity ratio, net income percentage of sales);
Breach of loan covenants or conditions;
Initiation of bankruptcy proceedings;
Deterioration of the borrower’s competitive position; and
Deterioration in the value of collateral.

The Bank’s policy requires the review of individual financial assets that are above materiality thresholds at least
annually or more regularly when individual circumstances require. Impairment allowances on individually
assessed accounts are determined by an evaluation of the incurred loss at balance-sheet date on a case-by-case
basis, and are applied to all individually significant accounts. The assessment normally encompasses collateral
held (including re-confirmation of its enforceability) and the anticipated receipts for that individual account.
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Financial risk management…continued
3.1.4
Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements
Credit risk exposures relating to on-balance sheet assets are as follows:
Maximum exposure
2011
2010
$
$
Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Loans and advances to financial institutions
Loans and advances to customers:
− Overdraft
− Demand loans
− Promissory notes
− Mortgages
Investments securities:
− available for sale – debt securities
− held to maturity
Other assets

19,851,680
21,622,685
32,232,926

15,171,047
9,235,477
56,395,260

20,671,238
151,344,654
4,925,672
153,275,585

18,715,623
132,225,281
10,694,261
143,693,469

7,109,906
14,422,198
3,792,183

9,960,812
16,264,813
4,697,327

3,831,933
27,757,273

4,042,664
30,048,273

460,837,933

451,144,307

Credit risk exposures relating to off-balance sheet items are as follows:
Financial guarantees
Loan commitments and other credit related facilities
At December 31

The above table represents a worse case scenario of credit risk exposure to the Bank at December 31, 2011 and
2010, without taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements attached. For on-balance-sheet
assets, the exposures set out above are based on net carrying amounts as reported in the balance sheet.
As shown above, 79% of the total maximum exposure is derived from loans and advances to financial institutions
and customers (2010 - 80%); 5% represents investments in debt securities (2010 - 6%).
Management is confident in its ability to continue to control and sustain minimal exposure of credit risk to the
Bank resulting from both its loan and advances portfolio based on the following:
- 87% of the loans and advances portfolio is categorised in the top two grades of the internal rating system
(2010 - 87%);
- Mortgage loans which represent the largest percentage of the portfolio, followed by demand loans, are
backed by collateral;
- 55% of the net loans and advances portfolio are considered to be neither past due nor impaired (2010 58%);
- The Bank continues to grant loans and advances in accordance with its lending policies and guidelines;
and
- 5% (2010 - 16%) of the investments in debt securities and other bills have at least an A- credit rating. Many
issuers in the region are not graded, consequently 56% of investments are not rated, compared to 84%
last year.
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Financial risk management…continued
3.1.5
Loans and advances
Loans and advances are summarised as follows:
Loans and advances to customers
Neither past due nor impaired
Past due but not impaired
Impaired

2011
$

2010
$

183,187,963
107,934,045
54,421,998

177,166,054
92,169,506
51,088,178

Gross

345,544,006

320,423,738

Less: allowance for impairment (Notes 9 and 10)

(15,326,857)

(15,095,104)

Net

330,217,149

305,328,634

33,232,926

56,395,260

Loans and advances to financial institutions
Neither past due nor impaired (Note 8)

(a) Loans and advances neither past due or impaired
The credit quality of the portfolio of loans and advances that were neither past due nor impaired can be assessed
by reference to the internal rating system adopted by the Bank.

December 31, 2011

Overdrafts
$

Demand
loans
$

Promissory
notes
$

Mortgages
$

Total Loans
and advances
to customers
$

Loans and advances to customers
Grades
1. Pass
2. Special mention
3. Sub-standard
4. Doubtful
5. Loss

19,625,913
606,309
441,043
–
–

79,317,864
214,442
–
–
–

3,066,466
–
–
–
–

78,806,548
1,109,378
–
–
–

180,816,791
1,930,129
441,043
–
–

Total

20,673,265

79,532,306

3,066,466

79,915,926

183,187,963

December 31, 2010
Loans and advances to customers
Grades
1. Pass
2. Special mention
3. Sub-standard
4. Doubtful
5. Loss

17,306,843
927,791
555,202
–
–

71,387,428
253,037
–
–
–

3,419,791
–
–
–
–

82,011,120
1,304,842
–
–
–

174,125,182
2,485,670
555,202
–
–

Total

18,789,836

71,640,465

3,419,791

83,315,962

177,166,054
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Financial risk management…continued
3.1.5

Loans and advances…continued

Loans and advances to financial institutions
Loans and advances to financial institutions were graded 1 (Pass) as at December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010.
(b) Loans and advances past due but not impaired
Loans and advances less than 90 days past due are not considered impaired, unless other information is available
to indicate the contrary. Gross amount of loans and advances by class to customers net of unearned interest that
were past due but not impaired were as follows:
Demand
loans
$

Promissory
notes
$

Mortgages
$

Total Loans
and advances
to customers
$

December 31, 2011
Past due up to 30 days
Past due 30-60 days
Past due 60-90 days
Past due over 90 days

19,512,618
8,899,072
2,022,937
22,724,659

654,778
279,926
147,361
192,049

22,419,575
14,783,770
3,934,790
12,362,510

42,586,971
23,962,768
6,105,088
35,279,218

Total

53,159,286

1,274,114

53,500,645

107,934,045

Fair value of collateral

118,505,822

4,647,178

111,339,070

234,492,070

December 31, 2010
Past due up to 30 days
Past due 30-60 days
Past due 60-90 days
Past due over 90 days

22,559,061
10,572,894
3,048,712
8,596,939

1,015,135
262,539
263,606
347,032

29,846,915
2,873,492
3,089,069
9,694,112

53,421,111
13,708,925
6,401,387
18,638,083

Total

44,777,606

1,888,312

45,503,588

92,169,506

Fair value of collateral

92,624,317

6,641,563

88,139,814

187,405,694

Upon initial recognition of loans and advances, the fair value of collateral is based on valuation techniques
commonly used for the corresponding assets. In subsequent periods, the fair value is updated by reference to
market price or indexes of similar assets. There were no overdrafts past due but not impaired.
(c) Loans and advances individually impaired
The table below shows the gross amount of individually impaired loans and advances to customers by grades
before taking into consideration the cash flows from collateral held.
2011
2010
$
$
Individually impaired loans
Grades:
1. Pass
2. Special mention
3. Sub-standard
4. Doubtful
5. Loss

9,047,030
18,082
29,094,389
9,810,315
6,452,182

10,056,689
3,576
24,334,367
10,632,823
6,060,723

Total

54,421,998

51,088,178

Fair value of collateral

86,517,685

80,309,016
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Financial risk management…continued
3.1.5

Loans and advances…continued

(d) Loans and advances renegotiated
Restructuring activities include extended payment arrangements, approved external management plans,
modification and deferral of payments. Following restructuring, a previously overdue customer account is
reset to a normal status and managed together with other similar accounts. Restructuring policies and
practices are based on indicators or criteria which, in the judgment of local management, indicate that
payment will most likely continue. These policies are kept under continuous review. Restructuring is most
commonly applied to term loans, in particular customer finance loans. Renegotiated loans that would
otherwise be past due or impaired as at December 31, 2011 amounted to $2,400,863 (2010- $2,590,164).
3.1.6
Debt securities, treasury bills and other eligible bills
The table below presents an analysis of debt securities, treasury bills and other eligible bills by rating agency
designation at December 31, 2011, based on Caricris or their equivalent:
Treasury
bills
$

Investment securities
Held-toAvailable-formaturity
sale
$
$

Total
$

AA- to AA+
A- to A+
CariBBB+
Unrated

–
–
7,743,181
13,879,504

2,032,219
–
8,149,677
4,240,302

–
–
–
7,109,906

2,032,219
–
15,892,858
25,229,712

Total

21,622,685

14,422,198

7,109,906

43,154,789

3.1.7 Repossessed collateral
During 2011, the Bank obtained assets by taking possession of collateral held as security, as follows:
Nature of assets

Carrying
amount
$
419,715

Vehicles

Repossessed vehicles are sold as soon as practicable with the proceeds used to reduce the outstanding
indebtedness.
3.1.8

Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure

(a) Geographical sectors
The Bank operates primarily in St. Lucia and the exposure to credit risk is concentrated in this area.
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Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure …continued

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

December 31, 2011

Credit commitments
80,550

15,000

1,145,340

3,909,770

–
–
–
7,486,507

–
–
–

156,971
6,506,444
–
823,092

61,128,020

409,211
1,211,379
17,250
2,271,930

–
–
–

Due from other banks
19,851,680
Treasury bills
–
Loans and advances to financial institutions 32,232,926
Loans and advances to customers:
- Overdraft
–
- Demand loans
–
- Promissory notes
–
- Mortgages
–
Investment securities:
- available-for-sale
252,459
- held-to-maturity
6,168,966
Other assets
2,621,989

As at December 31, 2011

–
–
–

Manufacturing
$

Financial
institutions
$

51,553

33,064,373

1,899,635
8,149,677
–

–
1,392,376
–
–

–
21,622,685
–
–
–
–

Personal
$

–
–
–

Other
industries
$

–
–
–

4,957,812
103,555
1,170,194

9,202,962

13,778,071

7,315,730

37,241,103 192,906,528 108,839,283

–
–
–

6,526,180
3,386,170 10,194,733
24,176,851 67,761,522 62,139,938
51,081
5,559,586
502,912
6,486,991 116,199,250 29,770,139

–
–
–

Professional
and other
Tourism Government
services
$
$
$

(18)

31,589,206

444,575,584

7,109,906
14,422,198
3,792,183

20,673,265
163,188,510
6,130,829
155,551,402

19,851,680
21,622,685
32,232,926

Total
$

(b) Industry sectors
The following table breaks down the Bank’s main credit exposure at their carrying amounts, as categorised by the industry sectors of our counterparties.

3.1.8

Financial risk management…continued

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

December 31, 2011

1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
1 National Bank St. Lucia Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
Notes to Financial Statements

st
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(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

As at December 31, 2010

Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Loans and advances to financial institutions
Loans and advances to customers:
- Overdraft
- Demand loans
- Promissory notes
- Mortgages
Investment securities:
- available-for-sale
- held-to-maturity
Other assets
4,551,545

–
–
–

1,784,268
8,010,143
2,665,547

84,026,265

39,146
4,044,029
–
468,370

–
–
–

–
–
–
–

15,171,047
–
56,395,260

Manufacturing
$

Financial
institutions
$

4,690,688

–
–
–

1,428,333
1,154,733
47,405
2,060,217

–
–
–

19,780,807

2,394,215
8,151,115
–

–
–
–
–

–
9,235,477
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

Personal
$

–
–
–

Other
industries
$

15,171,047
9,235,477
56,395,260

Total
$

–
–
–

5,782,329
103,555
2,031,780

9,960,812
16,264,813
4,697,327

(19)

28,825,258 191,884,192 98,389,719 432,148,474

–
–
–

3,064,792 11,814,572 2,442,993 18,789,836
20,694,457 59,292,113 57,807,278 142,992,610
9,592
7,596,749 4,490,383 12,144,129
5,056,417 113,180,758 25,731,401 146,497,163

Professional
and other
Tourism Government
services
$
$
$

Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure…continued

(b) Industry sectors…continued

3.1.8

Financial risk management…continued

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

December 31, 2011

December 31, 2011

1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
National Bank St. Lucia Limited
Notes to Financial Statements

Notes to Financial Statements

1

st

1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
toLimited
Financial Statements
1st National BankNotes
St. Lucia
Notes to Financial Statements

December 31, 2011

December 31, 2011

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

3

Financial risk management…continued
3.2
Market risk
The Bank takes on exposure to market risks, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks arise from open positions
in interest rate and equity products, all of which are exposed to general and specific market movements and
changes in the level of volatility of market rates or prices such as interest rates, credit spreads, foreign exchange
rates and equity prices. The Bank’s exposures to market risks primarily arise from the interest rate management
of the Bank’s retail and commercial banking assets and liabilities and equity risks arising from the Bank’s
available-for-sale investments.
3.2.1 Price risk
The Bank is exposed to equity securities price risk because of investments held by the Bank and classified on
the balance sheet as available for sale. To manage its price risk arising from investments in equity securities, the
Bank diversifies its portfolio.
At December 31, 2011, if equity securities prices had been 5% higher/lower with all variable held constant
comprehensive income for the year would have been $44,245 higher/lower (2010 - $46,763 higher/lower) as a
result of the increase/decrease in fair value of available for sale equity securities.
3.2.2 Foreign exchange risk
The Bank takes on exposure to effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on its
financial position and cash flows. The Board of Directors sets limits on the level of exposure by currency and in
total which are monitored daily. The Bank’s exposure to currency risk is minimal since most of its assets and
liabilities in foreign currencies are held in United States dollars. The exchange rate of the Eastern Caribbean
dollar (EC$) to the United States dollar (US$) has been formally pegged at EC$2.70 = US$1.00 since 1976. The
following table summarises the Bank’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at December 31, 2011.
Included in the table are the Bank’s financial instruments at carrying amount, categorised by currency.
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Foreign exchange risk…continued

38,054,137
31,589,206

Credit commitments

409,199,074

Total financial liabilities

Net on-balance sheet positions

403,402,178
5,796,896

–

358,031

–

–
–

358,031

–
–
–

8,345,787
14,422,198
3,792,183
447,253,211

33,907
324,124
–
–
–

CAD

34,794,363
4,979,291
18,469,314
32,232,926
330,217,149

Liabilities
Due to customers
Other liabilities

Total financial assets

Assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank
Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Loans and advances to financial institutions
Loans and advances to customers
Investment securities
- available-for-sale
- held-to-maturity
Other assets

As at December 31, 2011

ECD

1,945,263
–
–

208,101
9,802,715
3,153,371
–
–

688,673

688,673
–

–

–

2,892,090 14,420,777

2,313

2,313
–

2,894,403 15,109,450

–
–
–

62,220
2,832,183
–
–
–

EURO

USD

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

December 31, 2011

Concentration of currency risk – on and off balance sheet financial instruments

3.2.2

Financial risk management…continued

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

December 31, 2011

Notes to Financial Statements

–

1,841,910

–

–
–

1,841,910

–
–
–

10,390
1,831,520
–
–
–

GBP

1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited

–

7,163

–

–
–

7,163

–
–
–

–
7,163
–
–
–

TTD

–

137,055

–

–
–

(21)

31,589,206

57,711,163

409,890,060

404,093,164
5,796,896

467,601,223

10,291,050
14,422,198
3,792,183

–
–
–
137,055

35,171,352
19,851,680
21,622,685
32,232,926
330,217,149

TOTAL

62,371
74,684
–
–
–

BD

Growth and Profitability []

The Fruit of Local Knowledge and Community Focus

Annual Report 2011

3

Foreign exchange risk…continued

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

December 31, 2011

34,090,937

Credit commitments

394,319,088

Total financial liabilities

37,749,550

387,499,889
6,819,199

Liabilities
Due to customers
Other liabilities

Net on-balance sheet positions

432,068,638

Total financial assets

Assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank
26,358,837
Due from other banks
2,451,534
Treasury bills
9,235,477
Loans and advances to financial institutions 56,395,260
Loans and advances to customers
305,328,634
Investment securities
- available-for-sale
11,336,756
- held-to-maturity
16,264,813
Other assets
4,697,327

As at December 31, 2010

ECD

–

211,437

–

–
–

900,039

900,039
–

–

–

2,107,382 10,590,491

2,391

2,391
–

–

1,477,643

–
–
–
–

1,477,643

–

46,140

–
–
–
–

46,140

–
–
–

2,274,946
–
–

–
–
–

TTD

–
46,140
–
–
–

GBP

246,128
16,830
8,969,456 1,460,813
–
–
–
–
–
–

USD

2,109,773 11,490,530

–
–
–

–
–
–
211,437

67,525
2,042,248
–
–
–

EURO

32,517
178,920
–
–
–

CAD

Concentration of currency risk – on and off balance sheet financial instruments…continued

3.2.2

Financial risk management…continued

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

December 31, 2011

Notes to Financial Statements

1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited

TOTAL

13,611,702
16,264,813
4,697,327

–

86,463

(22)

34,090,937

52,269,106

– 388,402,319
–
6,819,199
–
– 395,221,518

86,463 447,490,624

–
–
–

64,527 26,786,364
21,936 15,171,047
–
9,235,477
– 56,395,260
– 305,328,634

BD

1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
Notes to Financial Statements

1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
December 31, 2011
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2011

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
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Financial risk management…continued
3.2.3 Interest rate risk
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Bank takes on exposure to the
effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on both its fair value and cash flow
risks. Interest margins may increase as a result of such changes but may reduce losses in the event that
unexpected movements arise.
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(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

December 31, 2011

(181,126,428) (27,512,893) (46,840,695) 70,361,203

1,324,508

1,324,508
–

71,685,711

–
11,789,092
–

–
–
–
–
59,896,619

1-5
years
$

Total interest repricing gap

41,508,305 101,933,809

41,508,305 101,933,809
–
–

55,093,114

–
2,158,555
–

–
–
13,539,324
25,268,460
14,126,775

3-12
months
$

236,645,071

236,645,071
–

13,995,412

–
–
–

6,547,156
474,551
–
55,518,643

–
–
5,141,264
–
8,854,148

–
12,188,028
2,942,097
6,964,466
26,402,345

1-3
months
$

Total financial liabilities

Liabilities
Due to customers
Other liabilities

Total financial assets

Assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank
Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Loans and advances to financial institutions
Loans and advances to customers
Investment securities:
- available-for-sale
- held-to-maturity
Other assets

As at December 31, 2011

Up to
1 month
$

(24)

221,500,013

–

–
–

221,500,013

562,751
–
–

–
–
–
–
220,937,262

Over 5
years
$

28,478,367

22,681,471
5,796,896

50,658,298

3,181,143
–
4,642,151

35,171,352
7,663,652
–
–
–

Non-interest
bearing
$

409,890,060

404,093,164
5,796,896

468,451,191

10,291,050
14,422,198
4,642,151

35,171,352
19,851,680
21,622,685
32,232,926
330,217,149

Total
$

3.2.3 Interest rate risk
The table below summarizes the Bank’s exposure to interest rate risks. It includes the Bank’s financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorized by
the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates.

Financial risk management…continued

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

December 31, 2011

Notes to Financial Statements

1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
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Interest rate risk…continued

–
–
–

9,960,812
526,551
–

3,611,258

(169,156,340) (12,395,083) (48,595,195) 66,063,008

95,239,333

Total interest repricing gap

45,528,482

3,611,258
–

220,106,990

95,239,333
–

69,674,266

–
8,151,115
–

–
–
–
–
61,523,151

1-5
years
$

Total financial liabilities

45,528,482
–

46,644,138

–
7,587,147
–

–
–
9,235,477
18,751,262
11,070,252

3-12
months
$

220,106,990
–

33,133,399

–
–
–
29,187,532
3,945,867

–
13,064,527
–
8,456,466
18,942,294

50,950,650

1-3
months
$

Up to
1 month
$

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

December 31, 2011

Liabilities
Due to customers
Other liabilities

Total financial assets

As at December 31, 2010
Assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank
Due from other banks
Treasury bills
Loans and advances to financial institutions
Loans and advances to customers
Investment securities:
- available-for-sale
- held-to-maturity
Other assets

3.2.3

Financial risk management…continued

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

December 31, 2011

Notes to Financial Statements

Over 5
years
$

(25)

209,847,070

–

–
–

209,847,070

–
–
–

–
–
–
–
209,847,070

1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
1st National Bank St. Lucia Notes
Limited to Financial Statements

30,735,455

23,916,256
6,819,199

39,567,780

3,650,890
–
7,024,006

26,786,364
2,106,520
–
–
–

Non-interest
bearing
$

395,221,518

388,402,319
6,819,199

449,817,303

13,611,702
16,264,813
7,024,006

26,786,364
15,171,047
9,235,477
56,395,260
305,328,634

Total
$

1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2011

December 31, 2011

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

3

Financial risk management…continued
3.2.3 Interest rate risk…continued
The Bank’s fair value interest rate risk arises from debt securities classified as available for sale. At
December 31, 2011 if market interest rates had been 100 basis points higher/lower with all variables held
constant, comprehensive income for the year would have been $171,168 lower/$224,794 higher (2010 - $69,015
lower/$160,392 higher) as a result of the decrease/increase in fair value of available for sale debt securities.
Cash flow interest rate risk arises from loans and advances to customers at variable rates. At December 31, 2011
if variable interest rates had been 100 basis points higher/lower with all other variables held constant, post-tax
profit for the year would have been $2,062,378 higher/lower (2010 - $1,918,273 higher/lower), mainly as a result
of higher/lower interest income on variable rate loans.
3.3
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with its financial
liabilities when they fall due and to replace funds when they are withdrawn. The consequence may be the
failure to meet obligations to repay depositors and fulfill commitments to lend.
3.3.1 Liquidity risk management process
The Bank's liquidity is managed and monitored by the Finance Department. This includes:

- Daily to weekly monitoring to ensure that requirements can be met. This includes the replenishment of funds
as they mature or as borrowed by customers. The Bank ensures that sufficient funds are held in the one to
thirty day maturity bucket to satisfy liquidity requirements.

- Maintaining a portfolio of marketable assets that can easily be liquidated as protection against any unforeseen
liquidity problems. Additionally, the investment portfolio is fairly diversified by currency, geography,
provider, product and term.

- Weekly monitoring of the balance sheet liquidity ratios against internal and regulatory requirements.
- Managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities.
3.3.2 Funding approach
Sources of liquidity are regularly reviewed to maintain a wide diversification by currency, geography, provider,
product and term.
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Financial risk management…continued
3.3.3 Non-derivative cash flows
The table below presents the cash flows payable by the Bank under non-derivative financial liabilities and assets
held for managing liquidity risk by remaining contractual maturities at the balance sheet date. The amounts
disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, whereas the Bank manages the inherent liquidity
risk based on expected undiscounted cash inflows.
3-12
months
$

1-5
years
$

Over
5 years
$

Total
$

254,097,100 41,800,536 109,858,517
5,796,896
–
–

1,399,420
–

–
–

407,155,573
5,796,896

Total liabilities
(Contractual maturity dates) 259,893,996 41,800,536 109,858,517

1,399,420

–

412,952,469

As at December 31, 2011
Liabilities
Due to customers
Other liabilities

Assets held for managing
liquidity risk (Contractual
maturity dates)

Up to
1 month
$

1-3
months
$

81,018,335 71,685,712 221,315,641

482,918,161

244,046,506 45,849,226
6,819,199
–

97,938,079
–

3,902,632
–

–
–

391,736,443
6,819,199

Total liabilities
(Contractual maturity dates) 250,865,705 45,849,226

97,938,079

3,902,632

–

398,555,642

Assets held for managing
liquidity risk (Contractual
maturity dates)

70,746,796 69,674,267 209,847,070

456,793,445

81,964,258 26,934,215

As at December 31, 2010
Liabilities
Due to customers
Other liabilities

68,035,767 38,489,545
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Financial risk management…continued
3.3.4 Assets held for managing liquidity risk
Assets available to meet all of the liabilities and to cover outstanding loan commitments include cash, central
bank balances, items in the course of collection and treasury and other eligible bills; loans and advances to
financial institutions; and loans and advances to customers. In the normal course of business, a proportion of
customer loans contractually repayable within one year will be extended. The Bank would also be able to meet
unexpected net cash outflows by selling securities and accessing additional funding sources.
3.3.5

Off-balance sheet items

(a) Loan commitments
The dates of the contractual amounts of the Bank’s off-balance sheet financial instruments that commit it
to extend credit to customers and other facilities (Note 31), are summarised in the table below.
(b) Financial guarantees and other financial facilities
Financial guarantees (Note 31), are also included below based on the earliest contractual maturity date.

As at December 31, 2011
Loan commitments
Guarantees, acceptances and other
financial facilities
Total
As at December 31, 2010
Loan commitments
Guarantees, acceptances and other
financial facilities
Total
3.4

1 year
$

1-5 years
$

Over 5 years
$

Total
$

19,605,041

8,106,417

45,815

27,757,273

–

3,684,275

147,658

3,831,933

19,605,041

11,790,692

193,473

31,589,206

23,455,149

6,488,765

104,359

30,048,273

–

3,930,006

112,658

4,042,664

23,455,149

10,418,771

217,017

34,090,937

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

(a) Financial instruments not measured at fair value
Fair value amounts represent estimates of the consideration that would currently be agreed upon between
knowledgeable willing parties who are under no compulsion to act and is best evidenced by a quoted market value,
if one exists. The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of financial instruments.
The fair values of cash resources, other assets and liabilities, cheques and other items in transit and due to
other banks are assumed to approximate their carrying values due to their short term nature.
(i) Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances are net of provisions for impairment. The estimated fair values of loans and advances
represent the discounted amount of estimated future cash flow expected to be received. Expected cash flows
are discounted at current market rate to determine fair value.
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Financial risk management…continued
3.4

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities…continued

(ii) Investment securities
Investment securities include only interest bearing assets held to maturity; assets classified as available-forsale are measured at fair value except for available-for-sale equity securities – unlisted which are carried at
cost less impairment. The fair value of equity securities carried at cost less impairment is not disclosed as it
can not be reliably estimated (Note 11). The fair value for held-to-maturity assets is based on market prices
or broker/dealer price quotations. Where this information is not available, fair value is estimated using
quoted market prices for securities with similar credit maturity and yield characteristics.
(iii) Due to customers
The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, which includes non-interest bearing deposits, is
the amount repayable on demand.
Deposits payable on a fixed date are at rates, which reflect market conditions and are assumed to have fair
values which approximate carrying values.
The table below summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of those financial assets and liabilities not
presented on the Bank’s balance sheet at their fair value.

Financial assets
Loans and advances to financial institutions
Loans and advances to customers:
− Overdraft
− Demand loans
− Promissory notes
− Mortgages
Investment securities
− Held to maturity

Carrying value
2011
2010
$
$

Fair value
2011
$

2010
$

32,232,926
330,217,149
20,671,238
151,344,654
4,925,672
153,275,585

56,395,260
305,328,634
18,715,623
132,225,281
10,694,261
143,693,469

32,232,926
348,489,816
20,671,238
169,057,690
7,831,389
150,929,499

56,395,260
357,662,684
18,715,623
172,106,624
10,977,734
155,862,703

14,422,198

16,264,813

13,613,759

15,176,080

404,093,164
165,478,049
208,997,652
29,617,463

388,402,319
162,176,015
194,992,697
31,233,607

381,417,456
142,802,341
208,997,652
29,617,463

385,939,680
159,713,376
194,992,697
31,233,607

Financial liabilities
Due to customers:
− Time deposits
− Savings accounts
− Demand accounts
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Financial risk management…continued
3.4

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities…continued

(b) Fair value hierarchy
IFRS 7 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation
techniques are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from
independent sources; unobservable inputs reflect the Bank’s market assumptions. These two types of inputs
have created the following fair value hierarchy:
Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. This level includes
listed equity securities and debt instruments on exchanges.
Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices).
Level 3 – inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
This level includes equity investments and debt instruments with significant unobservable components.
This hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available. The Bank considers relevant and
observable market prices in its valuations where possible.
3.4.1

Assets measured at fair value

December 31, 2011

Level 1
$

Level 2
$

Level 3
$

Total
$

- Investment securities - debt
- Investment securities - equity

–
–

3,006,889
884,900

4,103,017
–

7,109,906
884,900

Total assets

–

3,891,789

4,103,017

7,994,806

Level 1
$

Level 2
$

Level 3
$

Total
$

- Investment securities - debt
- Investment securities - equity

–
–

5,039,192
935,270

4,921,620
–

9,960,812
935,270

Total assets

–

5,974,462

4,921,620

10,896,082

Available-for-sale financial assets

December 31, 2010
Available-for-sale financial assets
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Financial risk management…continued
Reconciliation of Level 3 Items
Available-for-sale
financial assets
Debt securities
$
At January 1, 2011

4,921,620

Interest accrued
Settlements
Increase in impairment losses provision

96,275
(427,815)
(487,063)

At December 31, 2011

4,103,017

At January 1, 2010

3,068,733

Additions
Interest accrued
Settlements
Transfer into or out of Level 3

2,215,000
174,250
(536,363)

At December 31, 2010

4,921,620

The following table shows the sensitivity of level 3 measurements to reasonably possible alternative
assumptions:

At December 31, 2011
Available-for-sale financial assets

Reflected in equity
Favourable Unfavourable
changes
changes
$
$
196,725

143,566

The above favourable and unfavourable changes are calculated independently from each other.
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Financial risk management…continued
3.5 Capital management
The Bank’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the ‘equity’ on the face of
balance sheets, are:

- To comply with the capital requirements set by the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank;
- to safeguard the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and

- to maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.
Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored daily by the Bank’s management, employing
techniques based on the guidelines developed by the East Caribbean Central Bank (‘the Authority’) for
supervisory purposes. The required information is filed with the Authority on a quarterly basis.
The Authority requires each bank or banking group to: (a) hold the minimum level of the regulatory capital of
$5,000,000 and (b) maintain a ratio of total regulatory capital to the risk-weighted asset (the ‘Basel ratio’) at or
above the minimum indicated in the prudential guidelines of 8%.
The Bank’s regulatory capital as managed by management is divided into two tiers:

- Tier 1 capital: share capital, retained earnings and reserves created by appropriations of retained earnings.
- Tier 2 capital: qualifying subordinated loan capital, collective impairment allowances and unrealised gains
arising on the fair valuation of equity instruments held as available for sale.

The risk-weighted assets are measured by means of a hierarchy of five risk weights classified according to the
nature of and reflecting an estimate of credit, market and other risks associated with each asset and
counterparty, taking into account any eligible collateral or guarantees. A similar treatment is adopted for offbalance sheet exposure, with some adjustments to reflect the more contingent nature of the potential losses.

(32)
Growth and Profitability []
The Fruit of Local Knowledge and Community Focus

Annual Report 2011

1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2011

December 31, 2011

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

3

Financial risk management…continued
3.5 Capital management…continued
The table below summarises the composition of regulatory capital and the ratios of the Bank for the years
ended December 31, 2011 and 2010. During those two years, the Bank complied with all of the externally
imposed capital requirements.

Tier 1 capital
Share capital
Statutory reserve
Retained earnings

2011
$

2010
$

7,971,454
7,971,454
54,194,989

7,971,454
7,971,454
49,299,114

Total qualifying Tier 1 capital

70,137,897

65,242,022

Tier 2 capital
Revaluation reserve – available-for-sale investments
Revaluation reserve – property, plant and equipment

536,510
4,908,362

586,880
4,892,812

Total qualifying Tier 2 capital

5,444,872

5,479,692

75,582,769

70,721,714

Risk-weighted assets:
On-balance sheet
Off-balance sheet

319,111,409
6,265,175

302,582,508
6,798,422

Total risk-weighted assets

325,376,584

309,380,930

Capital adequacy ratio

22%

21%

Basel ratio

23%

23%

Total regulatory capital

The capital adequacy ratio is calculated as total qualifying Tier 1 capital divided by total risk-weighted assets.
The Basel ratio is calculated as total regulatory capital divided by total risk-weighted assets.
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Critical accounting estimates, and judgements in applying accounting policies
The Bank makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
(a) Impairment losses on loans and advances
The Bank reviews its loan portfolio to assess impairment at least on a quarterly basis. In determining whether an
impairment loss should be recorded in the statement of income, the Bank makes judgement as to whether there is
any observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a
portfolio of loans before the decrease can be identified with an individual loan in that portfolio. This evidence may
include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the payment status of borrowers in a
group, or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on assets in the group. Management uses estimates
based on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment
similar to those in the portfolio when scheduling its future cash flows. The methodology and assumptions used for
estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences
between loss estimates and actual loss experience. To the extent that the net present value of estimated cash flows
differs by +/-5%, the portfolio provision would be estimated $38,299 lower/higher (2010 - $33,037 lower/higher).
(b) Impairment of available-for-sale equity investments
The Bank determines that available-for-sale equity investments are impaired when there has been a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost. This determination of what is significant or prolonged requires
judgement. In making this judgment, the Bank evaluates among other factors, when there is evidence of
deterioration in the financial health of the investee industry and sector performance, changes in technology and
operational and financing cash flows. During the year the Bank recognised impairment losses on available-forsale equity investments of $855,856.
(c) Held-to-maturity investments
The Bank follows the guidance of IAS 39 on classifying non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments and fixed maturity as held-to-maturity. This classification requires significant judgement. In making this
judgement, the Bank evaluates its intention and ability to hold such investments to maturity. If the Bank fails to
keep these investments to maturity other than for the specific circumstances – for example, selling an insignificant
amount close to maturity – it will reclassify the entire class as available-for-sale. The investments would therefore
be measured at fair value not amortised cost. If the entire held-to-maturity investments are tainted, the carrying
value would decrease by $808,439 (2010- $1,088,733) with a corresponding entry in the fair value reserve in
comprehensive income.
(d) Income taxes
Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes including any liabilities for tax
audit issues. There are some transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business.
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Cash and balances with Central Bank
2011
$

2010
$

7,135,824
4,414,383

6,300,148
–

Included in cash and cash equivalents (Note 29)

11,550,207

6,300,148

Mandatory reserve deposits with Central Bank

23,621,145

20,486,216

35,171,352

26,786,364

Cash in hand
Balances with Central Bank other than mandatory reserve deposits

Pursuant to Section 17 of the Banking Act of St. Lucia No. 34 of 2006, the Bank is required to maintain in cash
and deposits with the Central Bank reserve balances in relation to the deposit liabilities of the institution.
Mandatory reserve deposits are not available for use in the Bank’s day-to-day operations. The balances with
the Central Bank are non-interest bearing.

6

Due from other banks
2011
$

2010
$

Items in the course of collection from other banks
Placements with other banks

4,006,195
15,845,485

1,494,866
13,676,181

Included in cash and cash equivalents (Note 29)

19,851,680

15,171,047

The weighted average effective interest rate in respect of interest bearing deposits at December 31, 2011 was
0.10% (2010 – 0.58%).

7

Treasury bills

Treasury bills

2011
$

2010
$

21,622,685

9,235,477

The Bank has invested in treasury bills in the Governments of Saint Lucia, Saint Vincent, Grenada and Antigua.
The weighted average effective interest rate of treasury bills in 2011 was 5.87% (2010 – 6.23%). All treasury
bills have fixed interest rates.
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Loans and advances to financial institutions

Reverse repos

2011
$

2010
$

32,232,926

56,395,260

Reverse repos are securities purchased under agreements to resell. The weighted average effective interest
rate of the reverse repos in 2011 was 4.69% (2010 - 5.55%).
Allowance account for losses on loans and advances to financial institutions as at December 31, 2011 and
2010 was nil.

9

Loans and advances to customers

Overdraft
Demand loans
Promissory notes
Mortgages

Less provision for impairment of loans and advances (Note 10)

Current
Non-current

2011
$

2010
$

20,673,265
163,188,510
6,130,829
155,551,402

18,789,836
142,992,610
12,144,129
146,497,163

345,544,006

320,423,738

(15,326,857)

(15,095,104)

330,217,149

305,328,634

49,383,268
280,833,881

33,950,089
271,378,545

330,217,149

305,328,634

The weighted average effective interest rate on productive loans stated at amortised cost at December 31, 2011
was 9.23% (2010 – 9.37%) and productive overdraft stated at amortised cost was 11.84% (2010 - 12.27%).
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10 Provision for impairment of loans and advances
Reconciliation of allowance account for losses on loans and advances by class is as follows:
Overdraft
$

Balance at January 1, 2011
Provision for loan impairment (Note 25)
Loans written off during the year
At December 31, 2011
Balance at January 1, 2010
Provision for loan impairment (Note 25)
Loans written off during the year
At December 31, 2010

Demand
loans
$

Promissory
notes
$

Mortgage
$

Total
$

74,213
(72,186)
–

10,844,466
2,482,671
(1,483,281)

1,462,947
(186,265)
(71,525)

2,713,478 15,095,104
132,867
2,357,087
(570,528) (2,125,334)

2,027

11,843,856

1,205,157

2,275,817

1,330,269
286,405
(153,727)

3,135,652 13,162,414
(400,880) 2,403,373
(21,294)
(470,683)

1,462,947

2,713,478

8,508
83,924
(18,219)
74,213

8,687,985
2,433,924
(277,443)
10,844,466

15,326,857

15,095,104

The total impairment provision for loans and advances to customers is $15,326,857 (2010 - $15,095,104) of
which $14,529,369 (2010 - $14,044,457) represents the individually impaired loans and the remaining amount of
$797,488 (2010 - $1,050,647) represents the portfolio provision.

11 Investment securities
Available-for-sale
Equity securities – at fair value
- Listed
Equity securities – at cost
- Unlisted
Allowance for impairment
Debt securities – at fair value:
- Listed
- Unlisted
Allowance for impairment

2011
$

2010
$

884,900

935,270

3,152,100
(855,856)

2,715,620
–

3,006,889
4,725,080
(622,063)

5,039,192
5,056,620
(135,000)

Total securities: available-for-sale

10,291,050

13,611,702

Held-to-maturity
Debt securities - at amortised cost:
- Listed
- Unlisted

8,126,896
6,295,302

10,193,711
6,071,102

Total securities: held-to-maturity

14,422,198

16,264,813

Current
Non-current

13,282,114
11,431,134

21,725,400
8,151,115

24,713,248

29,876,515
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11 Investment securities…continued
Available-for-sale equity securities – unlisted totalling $2,296,244 (2010 - $2,715,620) are carried at cost less
impairment. The Bank is not able to reliably measure the fair value of the equity securities since the shares are
not traded in an active market and the future cash flows relating to the securities cannot be reliably estimated.
All debt securities have fixed interest rates.
The weighted average effective interest rate on securities held-to-maturity stated at amortised cost at
December 31, 2011 was 6.57% (2010 – 6.6%)
The movement in available-for-sale and held-to-maturity financial asset during the year is as follows:
Available for
sale
$

Held-tomaturity
$

At January 1, 2011

13,611,702

16,264,813

Additions
Reclassification from HTM to AFS
Disposals (sale and redemption)
Loss from changes in fair value
Allowance for non-performance (Note 25)

726,458
–
(2,653,821)
(50,370)
(1,342,919)

6,285,385
–
(8,128,000)
–
–

At December 31, 2011

10,291,050

14,422,198

At January 1, 2010

12,285,162

22,556,356

Additions
Reclassification from HTM to AFS
Disposals (sale and redemption)
Loss from changes in fair value
Allowance for non-performance (Note 25)

7,225,679
1,350,000
(7,080,099)
(34,040)
(135,000)

3,571,504
(1,350,000)
(8,513,047)
–
–

At December 31, 2010

13,611,702

16,264,813
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12 Property, plant and equipment

December 31, 2009

Land and
Building
$

Furniture
and Fixtures
$

Equipment
$

Motor
Vehicles
$

186,920 24,547,040
(109,055) (9,215,879)

Cost or valuation
Accumulated depreciation

12,083,652
(446,273)

1,344,266
(929,623)

10,932,202
(7,730,928)

Net book amount

11,637,379

414,643

3,201,274

Opening net book amount
Additions in the year
Disposals in the year
Depreciation on disposals
Depreciation charge (Note 22)

11,637,379
219,380
–
–
(826,650)

414,643
67,860
–
–
(43,105)

3,201,274
405,347
(3,398)
709
(685,603)

Closing net book amount

11,030,109

439,398

2,918,329

1,412,126
(972,728)

11,334,151
(8,415,822)

77,865

Total
$

15,331,161

Year ended December 31, 2010
77,865 15,331,161
–
692,587
–
(3,398)
–
709
(15,573) (1,570,931)
62,292

14,450,128

At December 31, 2010
Cost or valuation
Accumulated depreciation

12,303,032 1
(1,272,923)

Net book amount

11,030,109

439,398

2,918,329

Opening net book amount
Additions in the year
Disposals in the year
Depreciation on disposals
Depreciation charge (Note 22)

11,030,109
1,022,683
–
–
(801,480)

439,398
185,061
–
–
(57,075)

2,918,329
2,022,051
–
–
(984,885)

62,292 14,450,128
86,000
3,315,795
(66,500)
(66,500)
45,692
45,692
(19,625) (1,863,065)

Closing net book amount

11,251,312

567,384

3,955,495

107,859

186,920 25,236,229
(124,628) (10,786,101)
62,292

14,450,128

Year ended December 31, 2011

15,882,050

At December 31, 2011
Cost or valuation
Accumulated depreciation

13,325,715
(2,074,403)

Net book amount

11,251,312

1,597,187
(1,029,803)
567,384

13,356,202
(9,400,707)
3,955,495

206,420 28,485,524
(98,561) (12,603,474)
107,859

15,882,050
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12 Property, plant and equipment …continued
In 2009, land and buildings were revalued by an independent valuer based on open market value. The valuation
indicated that the market value was above the carrying amount of the respective assets in the books of the Bank.
As a result, the carrying amounts were increased by $2,723,259, with a corresponding increase in the revaluation
reserves in equity.
During the prior year, the Bank changed the useful economic life of the building on #18 Bridge Street,
Castries, to 2 years. The change resulted in a $549,701 increase in annual depreciation charge for this building
in the current and prior year.
The historical cost of land and buildings are:

Cost
Accumulated depreciation based on historical cost
Depreciated historical cost

13 Other assets

Accounts receivable
Inventories of stationery and supplies
Prepayments

14 Due to customers

Time deposits
Savings accounts
Demand amounts

Current
Non-current

2011
$

2010
$

8,589,818
(3,025,651)

8,263,778
(2,364,286)

5,564,167

5,899,492

2011
$

2010
$

3,792,183
160,602
689,366

4,697,327
223,586
2,103,093

4,642,151

7,024,006

2011
$

2010
$

165,478,049
208,997,652
29,617,463

162,176,015
194,992,697
31,233,607

404,093,164

388,402,319

402,768,655
1,324,509

384,791,061
3,611,258

404,093,164

388,402,319

All deposits carry fixed interest rates.
The weighted average effective interest rate of customers’ deposits at December 31, 2011 was 3.58%
(2010 - 3.64%).
(40)
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15 Other liabilities

Manager’s cheques outstanding
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Dividends payable on ordinary shares

2011
$

2010
$

1,379,381
3,923,455
494,060

1,512,825
4,914,239
392,135

5,796,896

6,819,199

16 Retirement benefit obligations
Pension benefits
The amount recognised in the balance sheet at December 31, 2011 is determined as follows:
2011
$
Present value of funded obligations
Fair value of plan assets

Unrecognised actuarial loss
Liability in the balance sheet

2010
$

3,002,000
(3,853,000)

3,027,000
(3,410,000)

(851,000)

(383,000)

1,244,000

910,000

393,000

527,000

2011
$

2010
$

The movement in defined benefit obligations is as follows:

At beginning of year
Current service cost
Interest cost
Members’ contributions
Actuarial gain
Benefits paid

3,027,000
124,000
211,000
50,000
(385,000)
(25,000)

2,704,000
122,000
189,000
45,000
(14,000)
(19,000)

At end of year

3,002,000

3,027,000
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16 Retirement benefit obligations ...continued
The movement in fair value of plan assets for the year is as follows:
2011
$

2010
$

At beginning of year
Expected return on plan assets
Actuarial gain
Bank’s contributions
Members’ contributions
Benefits paid

3,410,000
246,000
(13,000)
185,000
50,000
(25,000)

2,961,000
215,000
21,000
187,000
45,000
(19,000)

At end of year

3,853,000

3,410,000

2011
$

2010
$

The amounts recognised in the statement of income are as follows:

Current service cost
Interest cost
Net actuarial gains recognised in the year
Expected return on plan assets
Total included in staff costs (Note 24)

124,000
211,000
(38,000)
(246,000)

122,000
189,000
(41,000)
(215,000)

51,000

55,000

2011
$

2010
$

The actual return on plan assets was $233,000 (2010 - $236,000).
Movement in the liability recognised in the balance sheet:

At beginning of year
Pension expense
Contributions paid
At end of year

527,000
51,000
(185,000)

659,000
55,000
(187,000)

393,000

527,000

The principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows:

Discount rate
Expected return on plan assets
Future salary increases

2011
%

2010
%

7
7
5

7
7
5.5
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16 Retirement benefit obligations…continued
Plan assets allocation is as follows:

Debt securities
Others

2011
%

2010
%

70
30

87
13

100

100

The expected rate of return on plan assets set by reference to estimated long-term returns on the plan’s strategic
asset allocation. Allowance is made for some performance from the plan’s portfolio.
The Bank’s expected contributions for the year 2012 is estimated at $161,000 (2011 - $162,000).
The amount in the pension plan for the year is as follows:
2011
$
Defined benefit obligation
Fair value of plan assets

2010
$

3,002,000
3,027,000
(3,853,000) (3,410,000)

2009
$

2008
$

2007
$

2,704,000
2,378,000
2,536,000
(2,961,000) (2,613,000) (2,253,000)

(Surplus)/deficit in the plan

(851,000)

(383,000)

(257,000)

(235,000)

283,000

Experience adjustment on plan liabilities
Experience adjustment on plan assets

(167,000)
(13,000)

(14,000)
21,000

13,000
3,000

(43,000)
75,000

29,000
(11,000)

(43)

Annual Report 2011

Growth and Profitability []
The Fruit of Local Knowledge and Community Focus

1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
toLimited
Financial Statements
1st National BankNotes
St. Lucia
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2011

December 31, 2011

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

17 Deferred income tax
Deferred income taxes are calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method using a
principal tax rate of 30%.
2011
$
At beginning of year
Statement of income (loss)/recovery for the year (Note 26)
Deferred tax (liability)/asset at end of year

2010
$

358,544
(431,439)

218,194
140,350

(72,895)

358,544

The deferred tax asset comprises of the following temporary differences:
2011
$
Accelerated capital allowances
Retirement benefit obligation

Deferred tax (liability)/asset at income tax rate of 30%

2010
$

(635,983)
393,000

668,147
527,000

(242,983)

1,195,147

(72,895)

358,544

18 Share capital
No. of
Shares

2011
$

No. of
Shares

2010
$

4,999,966

7,971,454

4,999,966

7,971,454

Authorized:
5,000,000 ordinary shares
At beginning and end of year

19 Statutory reserve
Pursuant to Section 14(1) of the Banking Act of St. Lucia No. 34 of 2006, the Bank shall, out of its net profits of
each year transfer to that reserve a sum equal to not less than twenty percent of such profits whenever the amount
of the fund is less than one hundred percent of the paid-up capital of the Bank.
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20 Net interest income

Interest and similar income
Loans and advances
Deposits with banks
Investment securities

Interest expense and similar charges
Time deposits
Savings deposits
Demand deposits

Net interest income

2011
$

2010
$

29,973,623
21,410
5,084,827

27,450,605
15,333
5,526,748

35,079,860

32,992,686

7,167,310
6,751,444
35,302

6,547,193
6,381,914
65,775

13,954,056

12,994,882

21,125,804

19,997,804

2011
$

2010
$

2,876,029
2,941,455
339,898
114,240
–

2,204,592
1,897,121
378,314
88,660
50,000

6,271,622

4,618,687

2011
$

2010
$

5,899,380
6,242,657
1,863,065
840,153
2,807

5,313,632
6,011,846
1,570,931
875,074
2,689

14,848,062

13,774,172

21 Other operating income

Foreign exchange
Commission income
Fees income
Dividend income
Gain on investment securities

22 Other operating expenses

Staff costs (Note 24)
Administrative expenses (Note 23)
Depreciation (Note 12)
Operating lease rental
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment

(45)

Annual Report 2011

Growth and Profitability []
The Fruit of Local Knowledge and Community Focus

1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
1st National Bank St. Lucia Limited
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2011

December 31, 2011

(expressed in Eastern Caribbean dollars)
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23 Administrative expenses
2011
$

2010
$

Advertising
Other operating expenses
Postage, telephone and telexes
Equipment expenses
Utilities
Security expenses
Stationery
Repairs and maintenance
Directors’ fees and expenses
Insurance
Professional fees
Audit fees
Bank licence
Rates and taxes
Legal fees

1,026,809
882,025
681,467
929,732
543,421
415,207
353,892
331,723
275,716
229,066
207,046
187,500
128,000
25,875
25,178

1,328,572
1,053,541
684,421
644,230
458,009
347,988
173,509
308,558
245,296
198,078
233,149
175,000
120,000
22,125
19,370

Total administrative expenses

6,242,657

6,011,846

2011
$

2010
$

4,758,189
628,917
271,456
189,818
51,000

4,406,172
415,061
260,001
177,398
55,000

5,899,380

5,313,632

24 Staff costs

Salaries and wages
Other employee benefits
Profit sharing
Social security costs
Pension costs (Note 16)

The average number of employees during the year was 107 (2010 - 101).
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25 Impairment losses

Impairment losses from loans and advances (Note 10)
Impairment losses on investments (Note 11)

2011
$

2010
$

2,357,087
1,342,919

2,403,373
135,000

3,700,006

2,538,373

2011
$

2010
$

26 Income tax expense

Current tax
Tax (over)/under accrued in prior years
Deferred tax (Note 17)

1,531,508
(25,000)
431,439

1,292,653
600,000
(140,350)

1,937,947

1,752,303

Tax on the Bank’s income before income tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the
statutory tax rate of 30% as follows:

Profit before income tax
Tax calculated at the statutory tax rate of 30%
Tax effect of exempt income
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Tax (over)/under accrued in prior years

2011
$

2010
$

8,849,358

8,303,946

2,654,807
(2,440,627)
1,748,767
(25,000)

2,491,184
(2,502,087)
1,163,206
600,000

1,937,947

1,752,303

There was no income tax effect relating to components of other comprehensive income.
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27 Earnings per share
Basic and diluted
The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the net profit attributable to shareholders of
$6,911,411 (2010 - $6,551,643) divided by the weighted average number of shares in issue ranking for dividend
during the year of 4,999,966 (2010 - 4,999,966).

28 Dividends
In the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2011 a total of $1,999,986 (2010 - $1,999,986) was
appropriated from retained earnings relating to the 2010 dividend. At a meeting on April 5, 2012, the Board of
Directors declared a dividend of $0.40 per share in respect of 2011 amounting to a total of $1,999,986 (2010 $1,999,986). This dividend will be accounted for in equity as an appropriation of retained earnings in the year
ended December 31, 2012.

29 Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following balances with
less than 3 months maturity:

Cash and balances with Central Bank (Note 5)
Due from other banks (Note 6)

2011
$

2010
$

11,550,207
19,851,680

6,300,148
15,171,047

31,401,887

21,471,195
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30 Related party transactions
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant
influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. A number of banking transactions
are entered into with related parties in the normal course of business. These transactions were carried out on
commercial terms and conditions, at market rates.
The volume of related-party transactions, outstanding balances at the year-end and related expenses and income
for the year are as follows:
Loan and advances to Directors and other key management personnel
2011
$

2010
$

Loans outstanding at beginning of year
Net loans (paid)/issued for the year

4,226,363
(986,663)

3,037,824
1,188,539

Loans outstanding at end of year

3,239,700

4,226,363

410,636

460,065

2011
$

2010
$

Interest income earned
Deposits from Directors and other key management personnel

Deposits at beginning of year
Net deposits received/(repaid) during the year

1,765,657
2,775,027

2,224,629
(458,972)

Deposits outstanding at end of year

4,540,684

1,765,657

98,258

88,068

2011
$

2010
$

917,974
140,022

900,809
160,692

1,057,996

1,061,501

Interest expense on deposits
Key management compensation and Directors’ fees

Salaries and other short-term benefits
Post and other employment benefits
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31 Contingent liabilities and commitments
(a) Loans commitment, guarantee and other financial facilities
At December 31, 2011, the Bank had the contractual amounts of the Bank’s off-balance sheet financial
instruments that commit it to extend credit to customers, guarantee and other facilities as follows:

Loan commitments
Guarantees and standby letters of credit
Acceptances
Documentary and commercial letters of credit

2011
$

2010
$

27,757,273
3,831,933
–
–

30,048,273
4,042,664
–
–

31,589,206

34,090,937
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